Characterisation of Dietary Fibre in Cereal Grains and Products

Emphasis on Triticale and Rye

Allah Rakha

Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences Department of Food Science Uppsala

Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala 2011 Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae 2011:82

Cover: Triticale and rye grains (photo: Roger Andersson)

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN 978-91-576-7626-9 © 2011 Allah Rakha, Uppsala Print: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2011

Characterisation of Dietary Fibre in Cereal Grains and Products – Emphasis on Triticale and Rye

Abstract

Utility of cereals is mainly defined by their composition. High content of extractable dietary fibre (DF) with retained molecular features may be desired for human consumption to derive certain benefits associated with DF. In contrast, low amount of extractable DF with degraded molecules will give higher feed value to cereals intended for animal feed.

This thesis investigated the composition of DF in cereals, particularly triticale and rye products. Processing effects on extractable DF components, e.g. arabinoxylan (AX), β -glucan and fructan, were also examined. The structure of AX and β -glucan in triticale, barley and tritordium and the rheology of triticale extracts as influenced by content and extractability, molecular size and structure of AX were analysed.

DF in triticale spanned a relatively narrow range (13-16%), with significant cultivar and location effects. Unfavourable growing conditions resulted in significantly lower molecular weights of AX, β -glucan and fructan in triticale. On the whole, triticale DF profile was more similar to wheat than rye. Among rye products, porridge had the highest DF content (23%) with retained molecular weight, followed by crisp breads (17.8%) and soft breads (12.6%). AX appeared to be more stable during processing, while β -glucan was more labile to endogenous enzymes. Substitution pattern of AX fragments released after enzymatic hydrolysis demonstrated less branching in triticale grown under unfavourable weather conditions. The molar proportion of cellotriosyl units of barley β -glucan had a strong positive correlation with the total content. Viscoelastic properties of triticale extracts varied between locations and cultivars. β -Glucan appeared to make a negligible contribution to triticale extract rheology, which was mainly influenced by structural features of AX rather than extractable content or molecular size.

The knowledge presented here will be useful for consumers of rye products when assessing processing-generated changes in DF content and composition. The cereal industry will be able to redefine processing parameters and DF labelling based on new facts. Broad variation in DF chemistry of triticale will provide more options for farmers and feed manufacturers to select cultivars best suited for animal feed formulation.

Keywords: Rye, triticale, dietary fibre, processing, arabinoxylan, β -glucan, fructan, enzymatic fingerprinting, rheology

Author's address: Allah Rakha, SLU, Department of Food Science, P.O. Box 7051, SE 750 07 Uppsala, Sweden *E-mail:* Allah.Rakha@ slu.se

Dedication

To my parents for their endless prayers.

Words, without power, is a mere philosophy. M. Iqbal

Contents

List of Publications 7		
Abbr	eviations	9
1	Introduction	11
1.1	Dietary fibre definition	11
1.2	Importance of dietary fibre	12
1.3	Dietary fibre in cereals	13
1.4	Major dietary fibre components	15
	1.4.1 Arabinoxylan	15
	1.4.2 β-Glucan	18
	1.4.3 Fructan	20
	1.4.4 Other components	22
1.5	Processing and dietary fibre	23
2	Objectives	25
3	Materials and methods	27
3.1	Materials	27
	3.1.1 Cereal grains and products	27
	3.1.2 Chemicals and enzymes	28
3.2	Preparation of porridge	28
3.3	Sample preparation	28
3.4	Analytical methods	29
	3.4.1 Physical and chemical measurements	29
	3.4.2 Quantification of dietary fibre components	29
	3.4.3 Molecular weight determinations	29
	3.4.4 Enzymatic fingerprinting of arabinoxylan and β -glucan	32
0.5	3.4.5 Rheological measurements	35
3.5	Statistical methods	36
4	Results and discussion	37
4.1	Dietary fibre composition	37
	4.1.1 Dietary fibre content in grains	38
	4.1.2 Dietary fibre content in products	40
	4.1.3 Molecular weight profile of dietary fibre in grains	42
	4.1.4 Molecular weight profile of dietary fibre in products	45

4.2	Processing effects on dietary fibre and its components	
	4.2.1 Arabinoxylan	46
	4.2.2 β-Glucan	49
	4.2.3 Fructan	53
4.3	Enzymatic fingerprinting of arabinoxylan and β -glucan	55
	4.3.1 Enzymatic hydrolysis of arabinoxylan	55
	4.3.2 Enzymatic hydrolysis of β-glucan	57
4.4	Rheological properties of triticale	58
5	Conclusions	63
5	Conclusions	63
5 6	Conclusions Main findings	63 65
5 6	Conclusions Main findings	63 65
5 6 7	Conclusions Main findings Future prospects	63 65 67
5 6 7	Conclusions Main findings Future prospects	63 65 67
5 6 7 Refer	Conclusions Main findings Future prospects rences	63 65 67 69
5 6 7 Refei	Conclusions Main findings Future prospects rences	63 65 67 69

List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Rakha, A., Åman, P., Andersson, R. (2011). Dietary fiber in triticale grain. Variation in content, composition and molecular weight distribution of extractable components. *Journal of Cereal Science* doi:10.1016/j.jcs.2011.06.010.
- II Rakha, A., Åman, P., Andersson, R. (2010). Characterisation of dietary fibre components in rye products. *Food Chemistry* (119), 859-867.
- III Rakha, A., Åman, P., Andersson, R. (2011). How does the preparation of rye porridge affect molecular weight distribution of extractable dietary fibers? *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* (12), 3381-3393.
- IV Rakha, A., Saulnier, L., Åman, P., Andersson, R. (2011). Enzymatic fingerprinting of arabinoxylan and β -glucan in triticale, barley and tritordium grains. (*Submitted manuscript*).
- V Rakha, A., Åman, P., Andersson, R. (2011). Rheological properties of aqueous extracts from triticale grains. (*Submitted manuscript*).

7

Papers I-III are reproduced with the permission of the publishers.

The contribution of Allah Rakha to the papers included in this thesis was as follows:

- I Carried out major part of analytical work, participated in evaluation of results and was responsible for writing the manuscript.
- II Participated in the collection of samples, planning of experimental work and evaluation of results. Was responsible for analytical work and for writing the manuscript.
- III Participated in the designing and planning of the experimental work and evaluation of results. Was responsible for major part of the analytical work and for writing the manuscript.
- IV Participated in the planning of the experimental work and evaluation of results. Was responsible for major part of analytical work and for writing the manuscript.
- V Participated in the planning of the experimental work and evaluation of results. Was responsible for analytical work and for writing the manuscript.

Abbreviations

A/X	Arabinose/xylose
ADF	Acid detergent fibre
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
AX	Arabinoxylan
AXOS	Arabinoxylan oligosaccharides
BG ₃	3- <i>O</i> -β-Cellobiosyl-D-glucose
BG_4	3- <i>O</i> -β-Cellotriosyl-D-glucose
BG ₅	3- <i>O</i> -β-Cellotetraosyl-D-glucose
BG_6	3-O-β-Cellopentaosyl-D-glucose
DF	Dietary fibre
DP	Degree of polymerisation
FEH	Fructan exo-hydrolase
GLM	General linear model
GOS	Gluco-oligosaccharides
HPAEC	High performance anion exchange chromatography
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography
HPSEC	High performance size exclusion chromatography
M_{cf}	Calcofluor average molecular weight
M_n	Number average molecular weight
M_w	Weight average molecular weight
M_w/M_n	Polydispersity index
NDF	Neutral detergent fibre
PAD	Pulsed amperometric detection
PC	Principal component
PCA	Principal component analysis
PLS	Partial least square
RS	Resistant starch
RVA	Rapid Visco Analyzer

WE-AX	Water extractable arabinoxylan
Х	Xylose
XX	Xylobiose
β-Glucan	$(1\rightarrow 3)$ $(1\rightarrow 4)$ - β -D-Glucan
δ	Phase angle
G*	Complex modulus
G′	Elastic modulus
G″	Viscous modulus

1 Introduction

1.1 Dietary fibre definition

Since the inception of the dietary fibre (DF) hypothesis by Burkitt, Trowell and colleagues in 1970s, our appreciation of DF and its relationship with health has led to a strong focus on biochemical and nutritional characterisation of DF in subsequent decades. The term 'dietary fibre' was coined by Hipsley (1953) and subsequently adopted and defined by Trowell (1972) as:

"The residue derived from plant cell walls that is resistant to hydrolysis by human alimentary enzymes".

Since then, there was no universally accepted regulatory definition of DF until 2009, when CODEX finally adopted it (Phillips & Cui, 2011). Thus the most updated definition of DF by CODEX states:

"Dietary fibre means carbohydrate polymers¹ with ten or more monomeric units², which are not hydrolyzed by the endogenous enzymes in the small intestine of humans and belong to the following categories:

- Edible carbohydrate polymers naturally occurring in the food consumed.
- Carbohydrate polymers which have been obtained from food raw materials by physical, enzymatic or chemical means and which have been shown to have a physiological effect of benefit to health as demonstrated by generally accepted scientific evidence to competent authorities.
- Synthetic carbohydrate polymers which have been shown to have a physiological effect of benefit to health as demonstrated by generally accepted scientific evidence to competent authorities.

¹When derived from a plant origin, dietary fiber may include fractions of lignin and/or other compounds when associated with polysaccharides in the plant cell walls and if these compounds are quantified by the AOAC gravimetric analytical method for dietary fibre analysis: Fractions of lignin and the other compounds (proteic fractions, phenolic compounds, waxes, saponins, phytates,

cutin, phytosterols, etc.) intimately "associated" with plant polysaccharides in the AOAC 991.43 method. These substances are included in the definition of fibre insofar as they are actually associated with the poly- or oligo-saccharidic fraction of fibre. However when extracted or even re-introduced in to a food containing non digestible polysaccharides, they cannot be defined as dietary fibre. When combined with polysaccharides, these associated substances may provide additional beneficial effects (pending adoption of Section on Methods of Analysis and Sampling).

²Decision on whether to include carbohydrates from 2 to 9 monomeric units should be left to national authorities."

A similar definition has been introduced in the EU by the European Commission under Commission Directive 2008/100/EC. However, one important difference is that this definition states that all carbohydrates with degree of polymerisation (DP) \geq 3 should be included in the DF definition, and is therefore not optional for EU member states. Currently, both CODEX and the European Commission are working on a list of approved methods which can be used for the determination of DF content or content of individual DF components.

In countries such as Finland, Norway, New Zealand, Australia and Sweden, fructan and fructo-oligosaccharides have been allowed as part of DF in nutrition labelling for quite some time. However, many manufacturers do not include fructan in their DF labelling and are thus reporting low DF values which may result in a marketing disadvantage. Others often tend to use the enzymatic gravimetric methods AOAC 985.29 or AOAC 991.43 for DF measurements and combine these with spectrophotometric method (AOAC 999.03) of fructan analysis. Total DF calculated by combining the values of both analyses performed in separate runs is slightly overestimated, since fructan with longer DP precipitates during the ethanol precipitation step of the gravimetric method (Ku et al., 2003). With the introduction of the CODEX definition of DF, where inclusion of carbohydrates with $DP \ge 3$ is mandatory for EU member states, a strong urge resulted in a new method to analyse total DF including resistant starch (RS) and non-digestible oligosaccharides in one run (McCleary et al., 2010). This method combines the key attributes of AOAC Official Methods of Analysis 985.29, 991.43, 2001.03 and 2002.02 and might help to harmonise DF labelling across EU.

1.2 Importance of dietary fibre

DF plays an important role in our daily nutrition. The typical Western diet contains < 20 g/day DF, which is considerably lower than the minimum

recommended for adults (25 g/day) by the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA, 2010). Major health benefits associated with optimum intake of DF include stool bulking, increased satiety and reduced risk of developing type 2 diabetes and coronary heart disease (Kendall et al., 2010; Buttriss & Stokes, 2008). These health effects are attributed to the major DF components such as arabinoxylan (AX), mixed linkage $(1\rightarrow 3)$ $(1\rightarrow 4)$ - β -D-glucan (β -glucan), fructan, cellulose, RS, etc. and are governed by both quantity and quality of these components (Wood, 2010; Regand et al., 2009; Tosh et al., 2008). In animal feeding, however, high intake of DF, particularly soluble AX and β glucan, has anti-nutritional effects. It may lower the feed value and reduce the weight gain (Choct et al., 1992). Apart from their nutritional role, DF components also make a significant contribution to the rheological, technological and organoleptic properties of plant foods. For example in cereals, DF influences starch pasting properties (Santos et al., 2008) and interferes with the starch-gluten matrix (Autio, 2006). Furthermore, higher inclusion of DF, particularly cell wall components, results in increased farinographic water absorption, the extent of which depends on characteristics of the fibre. Products enriched with DF are usually darker in colour and may lack consumer appeal. Polyphenol oxidase present in fibre-rich outer layers of the grain may lead to discolouration (Quinde-Axtell et al., 2006). A brief account of major DF components is presented in the following sections.

1.3 Dietary fibre in cereals

Cereal grain consists of different tissues varying in composition and properties (Figure 1). For example, a typical wheat grain contains about 3% germ, 83% starchy endosperm and 14% peripheral layers (Barron *et al.*, 2007; Hemery *et al.*, 2007). Cell walls from the outer grain tissues are generally thick and play a protective role in grain. These cell walls are composed of cellulose and complex xylans and may contain a significant quantity of lignin. However, cell walls of aleurone and starchy endosperm are predominantly composed of AX and β -glucan, and smaller amounts of cellulose, heteromannans, protein and esterified phenolic acids (Hemery *et al.*, 2007; Saulnier *et al.*, 2007; Fincher & Stone, 1986). The cell walls of cereal grains are thus a major source of soluble and insoluble DF in our daily diet.



Figure 1. Histological composition of wheat grain. Adopted from Surget and Barron (2005).

Rye (Secale cereale L.) is the second most commonly used grain for bread production after wheat (Bushuk, 2001). Rye is winter hardy and has modest requirements regarding soil and climate, which makes it an interesting alternative for more sustainable production. It is a traditional food cereal in Northern and Eastern Europe and adds diversity to the bread and breakfast cereal markets in these regions. Triticale (X Triticosecale Wittmack), a manmade cereal, was developed by combining A & B genome of durum wheat (Triticum turgidum L.) and R genome of rye (Secale cereal L.) (Varughese et al., 1996). The objective of triticale breeding was to merge the baking and yield potential of wheat with the adaptability of rye to almost all geographical ranges (McGoverin et al., 2011; Bender, 2006; Varughese et al., 1997). Thus under optimum growing conditions the yield potential of triticale is nearly the same as that of wheat, while it outperforms wheat in marginal environments (Varughese et al., 1996). Triticale currently has limited utilisation, primarily as an animal feedstuff, but can also be used in baking by supplementing with wheat due to its low gluten content (McGoverin et al., 2011). Triticale is a good source of protein with better biological value owing to its high lysine content, which is generally the limiting amino acid in cereals (Varughese et al., 1996).

Both rye and triticale are important cereals in Sweden, with annual production of 218,900 MT and 255,400 MT respectively (FAO, 2009). In Northern and Eastern Europe, rye is mostly consumed in the form of bread or porridge. Contrary to rye, major usage of triticale is animal feed. Among different cereals of commercial importance, rye has the highest content of DF, ranging from 18-22% (Andersson *et al.*, 2009) or 15-18% when fructan is not included in DF calculations. The major components of rye DF are AX, fructan and mixed linkage β -glucan, with contents ranging from 8.0-12.1%, 4.5-6.4%, and 1.3-2.2%, respectively (Boskov Hansen *et al.*, 2003). Triticale is normally intermediate in DF profile to its rye and wheat parents, with DF content ranging from 10-15% (Picolli da Silva & de Lourdes Santorio Ciocca, 2005; Pettersson & Åman, 1987). AX (\approx 7%) constitutes about half the total DF in triticale, while β -glucan (\approx 0.6%) is present in relatively smaller amounts (McGoverin *et al.*, 2011). The DF content of cereals is summarised in Table 1.

Cereal	Dietary fibre (%)	
Rye	15.1	
Triticale	14.6	
Wheat	12.2	
Dehulled oats	10.6	
Dehulled barley	10.1	
Millet	8.5	
Corn	7.3	
White sorghum	6.3	
Brown rice	4.6	

Table 1. Dietary fibre content⁴ (% of edible weight) of different cereals as reported by USDA National Nutrient Database SR 23 (USDA, 2010).

^aDietary fibre content analysed by enzymatic-gravimetric method 985.29 of the AOAC. In the case of rye, the method was 991.43.

1.4 Major dietary fibre components

1.4.1 Arabinoxylan

AX, a non-starch polysaccharide, constitutes 60-70% of endosperm cell walls in most cereal grains, with the exception of the endosperm cell walls of oats and barley (\approx 20%) and rice (40%) (Stone, 2006; Fincher & Stone, 1986). The backbone of the AX molecule consists of (1 \rightarrow 4)-linked β -D-xylopyranosyl residues, which may be either mono-substituted by α -L-arabinofuranosyl residue at O-2 or O-3 position or di-substituted at O-2 and O-3 (Figure 2). The mono-substitution at O-2 is rare in wheat and rye but more frequent in barley (Saulnier & Quemener, 2009; Izydorczyk & Dexter, 2008; Gruppen et al., 1992; Viëtor et al., 1992). The substitution pattern may vary depending on cultivar and location of AX in the grain (Bonnand-Ducasse et al., 2010; Izydorczyk & Dexter, 2008; Saulnier et al., 2007). For example, AX in intermediate layers (inner pericarp, testa and nucellar tissue) has very low A/X ratio (0.07) compared with that in outer pericarp (1.15). Degree and pattern of substitution by arabinose residues along the xylan backbone and degree of polymerisation of the xylan chain are important determinants of the structural heterogeneity and physico-chemical properties of AX (Vinkx & Delcour, 1996). For instance, AX with decreasing arabinose substituents becomes less soluble, since the unsubstituted xylan chains tend to associate and form stable, insoluble aggregates (Andrewartha et al., 1979). However, highly branched AX in plant matrix can be difficult to extract due to possibly stronger embedment in cell walls or interactions with other compounds (Cyran et al., 2003). The extent of branching also controls the action of pentosanases and highly branched AX molecules are less prone to enzymatic degradation (Ordaz-Ortiz et al., 2005; Vinkx & Delcour, 1996).



Figure 2. Main structural features of arabinoxylan.

The structure of water extractable AX (WE-AX) is slightly different from that of water unextractable AX solubilised by alkaline extraction (Gruppen *et al.*, 1993). The alkali-extracted AX is believed to have higher molecular weight and slightly higher A/X ratio due to more arabinose branching (Gruppen *et al.*, 1992; Fincher & Stone, 1986). For instance in rye alkali-extractable AX, it has been reported that about 50% of the xylose residues are unsubstituted, 30% mono-substituted and 20% di-substituted (Verwimp *et al.*, 2007; Cyran *et al.*,

2004). However, the relative proportions of mono-substituted and disubstituted xylose residues in WE-AX may depend on extraction temperature. In a study by Cyran *et al.* (2003) on rye cultivar Amilo, the level of O-3 monosubstituted xylose residues decreased from 44% to 19% and di-substituted xylose residues increased from 10% to 19% with an increase in extraction temperature from 4 °C to 40 °C. Compared with rye WE-AX, wheat WE-AX (n = 6) comprises 61-68% unsubstituted, 10-17% O-3 mono-substituted and 19-28% di-substituted xylose residues (Skendi *et al.*, 2011).

The strong positive correlation (r = 0.96) between the proportion of disubstituted xylose residues and A/X ratio in WE-AX indicates that the variation in A/X ratio is mainly controlled by di-substitution (Ordaz-Ortiz & Saulnier, 2005). Interestingly, the A/X ratio of WE-AX is correlated negatively (r = -0.73) with the proportion of mono-substituted xylose residues. The extent of arabinose substitution may influence the end-use quality of the flour, since wheat flours with good bread-making properties have a higher proportion of disubstitution (Cleemput et al., 1993). Apart from solubility and molecular weight distribution, the rheological properties of AX also depend strongly on its fine structure (Cyran & Ceglinska, 2011; Bach Knudsen & Lærke, 2010). Both molecular weight and structure influence the hydrodynamic volume of the polymer, and thereby viscosity (Courtin & Delcour, 2002). Furthermore, variation in extract viscosity (of rye grains) is more dependent on the extent of di-substitution than mono-substitution (Bengtsson et al., 1992). This underscores the importance of AX structural features for its various functional properties. The AX content of major cereals is summarised in Table 2 and can reach up to 12% (of the dry matter) in rye grain (Boskov Hansen et al., 2003). Huge variability in molecular weight of AX is reported in the literature, mainly because of different methods of extraction and analysis (Bach Knudsen & Lærke, 2010). For instance, Girhammar and Nair (1992) reported weight average molecular weight (M_w) of 7.70 \times 10⁵ g/mol in rye AX using gel permeation chromatography, while Andersson et al . (2009) reported 20.0 \times 10^{5} g/mol M_{w} using size exclusion chromatography coupled with light scattering and refractive index detection.

Cereal (n)	Arabinoxylan content (%)	Reference
Barley (7)	4.2-5.4	(Izydorczyk, 2010)
Oats (16)	4.1-14.5	(Åman, 1987)
Rye (45)	8.0-12.1	(Boskov Hansen et al., 2003)
Triticale	3.4-5.2	(Henry, 1985)
Wheat (26)	4.4-6.9	(Gebruers et al., 2010b)

Table 2. Arabinoxylan content (% of dry matter) of major cereals.

1.4.2 β-Glucan

β-Glucan is an important cell wall polysaccharide in oats and barley (Cui & Wang, 2009). It constitutes about 75% of starchy endosperm cell walls and about 26% of aleurone walls in barley (Fincher & Stone, 1986). However, starchy endosperm cell walls of wheat contain only 20% β-glucan, whereas the proportion goes up to 29% in aleurone cell walls (Stone, 2006). β-Glucan in oats is more concentrated in the sub-aleurone layers, while in barley and rye it is evenly distributed across the starchy endosperm (Cui & Wang, 2009). In wheat, β-glucan is probably concentrated in the sub-aleurone cell walls, since debranning is useful to produce bran fractions enriched with β-glucan (Cui & Wang, 2009; Dexter & Wood, 1996).

Chemically, cereal β -glucan is a linear homopolymer of β -Dglucopyranosyl residues linked mostly by 2-3 consecutive $(1\rightarrow 4)$ linkages (\approx 70%) interrupted by a single (1 \rightarrow 3) linkage (\approx 30%), as demonstrated in Figure 3 (Wood, 2001). So far, no evidence exists for more than one adjacent $(1\rightarrow 3)$ linkage in the β -glucan chain (Izydorczyk & Dexter, 2008). The structural features of cereal β -glucan construed after lichenase (EC 3.2.1.73) hydrolysis and subsequent analysis of oligomers released reveal that over 90% of the polymer consists of 3-O-β-D-cellobiosyl-D-glucose (trisaccharide unit, DP 3) and 3-O-B-D-cellotriosyl-D-glucose (tetrasaccharide unit, DP 4) (Cui & Wang, 2009). The remaining part contains longer sequences with 5-20 consecutive $(1\rightarrow 4)$ -linked β -D-glucopyranosyl residues (Izydorczyk *et al.*, 1998a; Izydorczyk et al., 1998b). In water-soluble β-glucan from barley, only oligomers up to DP 13 have been detected, with DP 5, 6 and 9 being predominant among oligomers of DP > 4 (Izydorczyk et al., 1998a). In contrast, the alkali-extractable part with DP > 4 contains much longer sequences with DP as long as 20 and DP 9 being the principal oligomer (Izydorczyk et al., 1998b). It is believed that long cellulose-like sequences of $(1\rightarrow 4)$ -linked β -D-glucose residues may form strong internal or external aggregation through hydrogen bonding and make β-glucan less soluble (Lazaridou & Biliaderis, 2007; Izydorczyk et al., 1998a). The ratio of trisaccharides to tetrasaccharides forms a fingerprint of the particular grain and is different for each cereal. It is usually highest for wheat (3.7-4.8), followed by barley/rye (2.7-3.6) and oats (1.7-2.4) (Wood, 2010). The molar ratio of DP3/DP4 is also an important determinant of functional properties of β -glucan, such as solubility (Cui et al., 2000). Higher molar proportion of the trisaccharides, i.e. higher ratio of DP3/DP4, offers a greater prospect of consecutive cellotriosyl units, thereby resulting in a more regular structure of β-glucan, which makes it less soluble (Wood, 2010; Izydorczyk & Dexter, 2008). Higher molar ratio of trisaccharides to tetrasaccharides in wheat can

thus possibly be one reason for lower solubility of wheat β -glucan compared with that of oats and barley. Further differences in trisaccharide to tetrasaccharide ratio can be found in different grain tissues. β -Glucan from outer grain layers (pericarp, aleurone) exhibits much higher DP3/DP4 ratio compared with that originating from starchy endosperm cell walls (Izydorczyk & Dexter, 2008).

→3)-β-D-Glcp-(1→ [4)-β-D-Glcp-(1→ $]_n$ 4)-β-D-Glcp-(1→ n=1 or 2 for about 90% of the polymer

Figure 3. General structure of cereal mixed linkage $(1\rightarrow 3)$ $(1\rightarrow 4)$ - β -D-glucan.

β-Glucan content in different cereals varies and is about 0.4% in triticale (Henry, 1985) and up to about 10% in barley (Izydorczyk, 2010) (Table 3). Solubility/extractability of β -glucan in different cereals varies greatly and β glucan from oats and barley is classified as more soluble DF (Wood, 2010). Furthermore, the extractability of β-glucan is dependent on method of extraction used. Normally 70-75% of β -glucan in oats is extractable by hot water, but only 10-20% of that in rye (Wood, 2010). Similar to content and extractability, huge diversity in molecular weight of β-glucan in different cereals has been observed. In general, molecular weight of β-glucan in cereals follows the trend oats > barley > rye > wheat (Cui & Wang, 2009). Lazaridou and Biliaderis (2007) reported molecular weight ranges of $0.65-31.0 \times 10^5$ g/mol in oats, $0.31-27.0 \times 10^5$ g/mol in barley, $0.21-11.0 \times 10^5$ g/mol in rye and 2.1-4.9 \times 10⁵ g/mol in wheat. The discrepancies in molecular weight of β glucan in cereals may originate from varietal and environmental factors (Ajithkumar et al., 2005). Furthermore, the variation in β -glucan molecular weight among different cultivars of the same cereal is driven mostly by environmental factors. Molecular weight of the polymer reported in the literature may also vary depending on method of extraction and determination used. Significant degradation may take place if endogenous or microbial βglucanases are not inactivated properly or if the extraction is carried out under alkaline or acidic conditions at high temperature (Wood, 2010; Lazaridou & Biliaderis, 2007). Molecular weight of the polymer also differs in various botanical parts of the grain. For example, β-glucan in barley flour has higher molecular weight than that in shorts and bran, with bran being the lowest (Zheng et al., 2011).

Table 3. β -Glucan content (% of dry matter) of major cereals.

Cereal (n)	β -Glucan content (%)	References
Barley (39)	2.4-8.3	(Holtekjølen et al., 2006)
Oats (121)	2.2-4.2	(Åman & Graham, 1987)
Rye (55)	1.3-2.2	(Boskov Hansen et al., 2003)
Triticale	0.4-0.7	(Henry, 1985)
Wheat (26)	0.5-1.0	(Gebruers et al., 2010b)

1.4.3 Fructan

Fructan including fructo-oligosaccharides (DP 3-9) is the soluble DF with prebiotic properties (Gibson *et al.*, 2004). Fructan, known to selectively stimulate the growth of probiotics, is resistant to digestion and absorption in the upper gut and is fermentable by intestinal microflora. Fructan is reported to modulate the immune system beneficially by altering the structure and composition of mucosa and microflora, thus improving the ability of the individual to better respond to certain intestinal infections (Lomax & Calder, 2009; Roberfroid, 2007). The role of fructan in enhancing mineral absorption, particularly Ca, and in the bone health of adolescents is well documented (Alexiou & Franck, 2008; Roberfroid, 2007). The increased Ca absorption in turn reduces the risk of osteoporosis. The potential of fructan in reducing the risk of colon cancer is being investigated, with some positive results in animal models (Roberfroid, 2007; Hughes & Rowland, 2001).

Fructan is widespread in bacteria and flowering plants and to a lesser extent in algae and liverworts (Hendry, 1993). About 45,000 species (15% of the total angiosperm flora) contain fructan. They are distributed in roots, bulbs, seeds, stems and leaves as storage carbohydrates. Among the grasses, members of the sub-family Pooideae of the family Poaceae, which includes cereals of major economic importance, i.e. rye, wheat, barley and oats, store fructan (Hendry, 1993). Rye contains the highest amount of fructan among cereals (up to 6.4%) as visible from Table 4 (Boskov Hansen et al., 2003). However, the main industrial sources of fructan are chicory roots (Chicorium intybus) and tubers of Jerusalem artichoke (Helianthus tuberosus). The role of fructan in plants during abiotic stresses has been reviewed extensively (Livingston et al., 2009; Valluru & Van den Ende, 2008; Vijn & Smeekens, 1999). Fructan is reported to protect plants from freeze injury and drought stress. In dicots, fructan acts as a long-term storage carbohydrate in underground organs, while in monocots it acts as a short-term storage carbohydrate in leaves, stems and roots (Valluru & Van den Ende, 2008).

Table 4. Fructan content (% of dry matter) in major cereals.

Cereal (n)	Fructan content (%)	Reference
Barley	1.6	(Huynh et al., 2008)
Oats (121)	0.1	(Åman, 1987)
Rye (25)	4.5-6.4	(Boskov Hansen et al., 2003)
Triticale (80)	0.2-1.5	(Pettersson & Åman, 1987)
Wheat (19)	1.5-2.3	(Huynh et al., 2008)

Plant fructan is a polymer of β -D-fructofuranosyl residues with or without a terminal glucose residue (Valluru & Van den Ende, 2008; Vijn & Smeekens, 1999) (Figure 4). Fructan exhibits great structural diversity and variable chain length, with DP ranging from three to few hundred fructose residues (Ritsema & Smeekens, 2003). However, in general plant fructan has a DP range of 30-50. Based on chemical structure, fructan is divided into five categories (Vijn & Smeekens, 1999):

- Inulin-type fructan consists of linear (2→1)-linked β-D-fructosyl residues attached to the fructosyl moiety of sucrose. It is mainly present in dicotyledonous plants, particularly chicory (*Chicorium intybus*) and Jerusalem artichoke (*Helianthus tuberosus*). The shortest inulin molecule is a trisaccharide 1-kestose (1-K), also called isokestose. Inulin-type fructan obtained from chicory roots is most widely studied.
- 2. Levan or phlein is a linear fructan consisting of $(2\rightarrow 6)$ -linked β -D-fructosyl residues. 6-Kestose (6-K) is the shortest levan molecule. Levan is usually present in some grasses, e.g. *Dactylis glomerata* (Bonnett *et al.*, 1997) and *Poa secunda* (Wei *et al.*, 2002).
- Mixed levan or graminan-type fructan consists of a (2→6)-linked β-Dfructosyl residues chain with (2→1)-linked branches attached to the fructosyl moiety of sucrose. Bifurcose is the shortest molecule in this category. Mixed levan is present in most of the plant species belonging to the order Poales. Members of the Poaceae family, e.g. wheat and barley, are typical examples of plants containing graminan-type fructan (Bonnett *et al.*, 1997).

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \beta\text{-D-Fruf} & & & \\ 2 & & \downarrow \\ & \downarrow & \\ 1 & & 1 \end{array}$$

$$\rightarrow 1)-\beta\text{-D-Fruf-}(2 \rightarrow & \rightarrow 6)-\beta\text{-D-Fruf-}(2 \rightarrow & \rightarrow 1)-\alpha\text{-D-Glcp}$$

Figure 4. General structure of fructan.

- Levan neoseries fructan is the polymer of (2→6)-linked β-D-fructosyl chains attached to C1 and C6 of the glucose moiety of sucrose. This type of arrangement results in fructose chains on both sides of the glucose residue. Levan neoseries are present in few plant species of the order Poales, e.g. oats (Livingston *et al.*, 1993).
- Inulin neoseries have (2→1)-linked β-D-fructosyl chains attached to C1 and C6 of the glucose moiety of sucrose. Neokestose is the smallest molecule of this category. Inulin neoseries are present in plants of the family *Liliaceae*, e.g. onion (*Allium cepa*) and asparagus (*Asparagus officinalis*) (Shiomi, 1989).

1.4.4 Other components

Resistant starch (RS) is regarded as part of DF in the new definition of CODEX (Phillips & Cui, 2011), since it is not digested by the enzymes present in the upper gut of humans and is readily available to colonic microflora (Englyst & Macfarlane, 1986). Based on its origin, RS is divided into four distinct sub-classes (Cummings & Stephen, 2007; Englyst & Macfarlane, 1986). RS1 is physically inaccessible starch because of its presence in whole or partly milled kernels. RS2 is resistant to digestion because of its compact granular structure, e.g. starch present in raw potato and banana. RS3 is formed naturally during retrogradation of gelatinised starch and hence is considered important after processing of cereals. RS4 is a chemically modified form of starch and is formed by derivatisation of starch through cross-linking and/or substitution.

Cellulose, the most abundant macromolecule on land, is a linear polymer of $(1\rightarrow 4)$ -linked β -D-glucopyranosyl residues with anhydrocellobiose as the repeating unit (O'Sullivan, 1997; McNeil *et al.*, 1984). Due to its linearity, cellulose associates strongly with itself through hydrogen bonds, resulting in tightly packed compact aggregates called microfibrills. These microfibrills are surrounded by a matrix of other cell wall components such as lignin and hemicelluloses, making the compound highly insoluble. The cellulose content of cereal grain cell walls varies according to the tissue of origin and cereal species (Fincher & Stone, 1986). Cellulose is abundant in secondary cell walls, whereas it comprises 20-30% of dry matter in most primary cell walls (McNeil *et al.*, 1984). In endosperm cell walls of wheat and barley, cellulose accounts for only few percent of the total walls, while in the outer, lignified layers it may comprise up to 20% of the cell walls (Fincher & Stone, 1986). Its content in rye grain varies from 1-3% (Liukkonen *et al.*, 2006).

Associated compounds such as lignin when analysed together with other constituents are also included in the CODEX definition of DF. However, once

isolated and added back, they would not be considered part of DF (EFSA, 2010). Lignin is a polymer of phenyl-propanoides and is deposited in secondary thickened cells walls (Vanholme *et al.*, 2010). Lignin is regarded as a structural component of plants and is strongly bound to the heteroxylans. The content of Klason lignin in rye grain usually varies from 1-3% (Boskov Hansen *et al.*, 2003).

1.5 Processing and dietary fibre

Processing is a prerequisite to make food palatable and is considered important for the content, composition and bioavailability of nutrients (Slavin *et al.*, 2000). Some of the process-induced modifications are favourable, while others can be regarded as undesirable for the nutritional quality of food. The importance of judicious processing was laid down a long time ago by Hippocrates when he said:

"And this I know, moreover, that to the human body it makes a great difference whether the bread be fine, or coarse; of wheat with or without the hull, whether mixed with much or little water, strongly wrought or scarcely at all, baked or raw—and a multitude of similar differences....... Whoever pays no attention to these things, or, paying attention, does not comprehend them, how can he understand the diseases which befall a man?" (Hippocrates, 400 BC).

The physiological functions attributable to DF are normally related to its viscosity (Lazaridou & Biliaderis, 2007). The viscosity of carbohydrate polymers such as β -glucan is interpreted from their extractable content, molecular size and structural features (Wood, 2010; Cui & Wang, 2009; Mälkki & Virtanen, 2001). According to investigations by Regand et al. (2009), 73% of the bioactivity of β -glucan in attenuating the peak blood glucose response is explained by molecular weight \times content. Keeping this in mind, EFSA (2009) placed certain preconditions when permitting health claims pertaining to β-glucan. In order to carry the claim regarding maintenance of normal blood cholesterol level, the foods should provide at least 3 g/day of β glucan from oats, oat bran, barley, barley bran or from mixtures of nonprocessed or minimally processed β -glucan in one or more servings. These restrictions make sense, since previous studies show that β -glucan with reduced molecular weight does not demonstrate physiological benefits in human subjects (Tosh et al., 2010; Tosh et al., 2008). The reduction in molecular weight or content of fibre polymers can be due to endogenous or microbial enzymes, temperature, pH, yeast fermentation, mixing, etc. (Andersson et al., 2009; Tiwari & Cummins, 2009; Poutanen, 2008; Åman et al., 2004; Andersson et al., 2004; Boskov Hansen et al., 2002). Accordingly,

products prepared through various processes such as baking, extrusion, porridge cooking, malting, etc. may end up in variable content, extractability and molecular weight and consequently bioactivity. The processing effects on DF components are governed by the rigour of processing and the susceptibility of the DF components. Food matrix is also an important consideration when assessing the process-induced modifications in DF components (Regand et al., 2009). Compared with bread, porridge normally retains high molecular weight of polymers such as β -glucan (Åman *et al.*, 2004). Consequently, the efficacy of various foods to exert physiological benefits differs greatly (Regand et al., 2009). Oat porridge and granola, for example, were most efficient in attenuating the peak blood glucose response owing to high β -glucan peak molecular weight and viscosity, whereas in the same study bread and pasta exhibited significant depolymerisation of β-glucan and showed lowest bioactivity. Knowledge of process-induced changes on DF content and composition is therefore of the utmost importance in preparing healthy food products.

2 Objectives

The overall objective of this work was to characterise the DF profile of rye and rye products and triticale grains. Rye is important for human consumption, while the major usage of triticale is in animal feed. A high content of preserved DF in rye-based products is considered beneficial for its physiological functions and processing is normally intended to retain its bioactivity. Conversely, for animal feed a lower amount of DF with low extractability and degraded molecules is desired, since this will result in low viscosity in the animal gut. The viscosity of triticale or rye extract depends to a large extent on its DF content, composition, molecular weight distribution and structural features of major soluble components, namely AX and β -glucan.

Specific objectives of the work were to:

- Characterise the DF of triticale cultivars grown at different locations in Sweden (Paper I).
- Study the content and composition of DF in rye-based crisp breads and soft breads (Paper II).
- Investigate the impact of porridge preparation on the molecular weight distribution of extractable DF components (Paper III).
- Compare the structural features of AX and β-glucan in different cereals and determine the impact of growing conditions and genetic variability (Paper IV).
- Study the rheology in extracts of triticale cultivars grown at different locations and establish the relationship between viscoelastic properties and the chemistry of DF (Paper V).

3 Materials and methods

This section describes the materials used and methods applied to obtain the results compiled in this thesis. Only a brief description of materials and methods is presented in this section, as they are described in detail in Papers I-V. However, methods dealing with relative DP distributions of fructan and enzymatic fingerprinting of AX and β -glucan structural features underwent certain modifications and are presented in detail. The method for studying the rheological properties of triticale flour was developed during the study and a thorough account is given here.

3.1 Materials

3.1.1 Cereal grains and products

Eight triticale cultivars (SW 168, Fidelio, SW 137B, Dinaro, SW 383A, DED 145/02, Talentro, Cando) were grown at two locations in Sweden: Svalöv (55°56'N, 13°6'E) and Kölbäck (58°27'N, 15°15'E). Two of these cultivars (Fidelio and Cando) were also grown at a third location, Haga (59°36'N, 17°2'E). Wheat (cv. Harnesk) and rye (cv. Ottarp) reference cereals were grown at Svalöv and Kölbäck (Papers I, IV & V). Twelve crisp breads, eight soft breads and two extruded rye products were obtained from commercial outlets in Sweden. Three milling streams, i.e. inner endosperm, outer endosperm and bran, were obtained from Lantmännen AB, Stockholm, Sweden (Paper II). Commercial whole meal rye flours used for preparation of porridge and rye flour slurries were obtained from the Nordic Gene Bank (NGB) of the Nordic Genetic Resource Centre, Sweden (1-6), the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (SLU), Sweden (7, 8), SW Seed AB, Svalöv, Sweden (9-17) and the Royal Veterinary and Agricultural University (KVL), Denmark

(18-20) (Paper IV). Five tritordium breeding lines were obtained from Agrasys S.L. Parc Cientific de Barcelona.

3.1.2 Chemicals and enzymes

The chemicals used were of analytical grade and were tested to suit the specific protocol. Most of the enzymes used were obtained from Megazyme (Bray, Ireland) and their purity and specific activity was tested by the supplier.

3.2 Preparation of porridge

A full factorial design with two levels of flour (50 and 35 g) and salt (0 and 1 g) and four levels of rest time (0, 20, 40, 60 min) before cooking was used in experiment one of Paper III. The centre points of salt (0.5 g) and flour (42.5 g) with all four levels of rest time were carried out in triplicate to account for experimental error. In experiment two, the effect of incubation temperature (20, 35, 45, 55 °C) and pH (4.5, 6.2) on molecular weight of AX was investigated.

The experimental porridges were prepared according to the design using a fixed amount of water (180 ml). The water-soaked ingredients were incubated at 20 °C and stirred for 10 seconds every 5 min to ensure uniform mixing and action of the endogenous enzymes. After cooking for 7 min on a hot plate at intermediate setting, the porridges were transferred to an aluminium container, covered and immediately frozen at -20 °C (experiment one, Paper III). In experiment two, which was aimed to investigate the effect of temperature and pH, rye flour slurries were prepared using 10 g flour and 27 ml water or sodium acetate buffer (0.5M, pH 4.5). The slurries were incubated at the required temperature for 1 h and stirred for 10 seconds every 5 min. After 1 h the slurries were immediately frozen at -20 °C.

3.3 Sample preparation

The grain samples were cleaned to remove impurities. The soft breads, porridges and rye flour slurries were freeze-dried for 72 h. All the grain samples, crisp breads, soft breads, extruded products, porridges and rye slurries were milled with a cyclone sample mill (Retsch, Hann, Germany) to pass through a 0.5 mm screen.

3.4 Analytical methods

All analytical measurements were carried out at least in duplicate and the deviation between two analytical replicates was usually about 5%.

3.4.1 Physical and chemical measurements

Certain physical and chemical analyses were performed on triticale grains (Paper I). Bulk density was recorded by InfratecTM 1241 (Foss, Denmark) equipped with a test weight module. Thousand kernel weight was measured by the International Seed Testing Association (ISTA) method (ISTA, 2006). Grain protein content measurements were performed on an NIT instrument (InfratecTM 1241 Grain Analyser, Foss, Denmark). Crude fat content was measured using the standard gravimetric method on a Tecator instrument (Tecator AN 301, 2001). Starch content was analysed enzymatically according to Åman *et al.* (1994). Neutral detergent fibre (NDF) and acid detergent fibre (ADF) were analysed according to AOAC Official Method (2002.04) and AOAC Official Method (973.18), respectively (AOAC, 2005). Maltose and sucrose contents were measured according to the method described by Sullivan and Carpenter (1993).

3.4.2 Quantification of dietary fibre components

Analyses of DF and its constituents were carried out in Papers I-V. Total, extractable and unextractable DF were quantified by the Uppsala method (Theander *et al.*, 1995) subsequently modified by Andersson *et al.* (1999) for separate measurement of extractable and unextractable DF. AX content was calculated from the arabinose, xylose, and galactose values obtained through the Uppsala method, assuming an arabinose/galactose ratio of 0.69 in extractable arabinogalactan (Loosveld *et al.*, 1997). Total β -glucan was quantified by an enzymatic method as detailed by McCleary and Codd (1991), while extractable β -glucan was measured by taking into account the area under the curve during molecular weight determinations (Rimsten *et al.*, 2003). Fructan content in grain and product samples was measured according to the method described by McCleary *et al.* (1997) using the enzymatic assay kit K-FRUC (Megazyme, Bray, Ireland). The samples were treated with α -galactosidase (Megazyme, Bray, Ireland) for removal of raffinose-type oligosaccharides, which may interfere with fructan analysis.

3.4.3 Molecular weight determinations

Molecular weight distributions of AX, β -glucan and fructan were determined in Papers I-III & V. Arabinoxylan weight-average molecular weight (M_w) and number-average molecular weight (M_n) were measured by high performance

size exclusion chromatography (HPSEC) coupled with multiple angle laser light scattering and refractive index detectors (Wyatt Technology, Santa Barbara) as described by Andersson *et al.* (2009). The molecules eluting in the range 15-22 ml were taken into consideration to calculate M_w and M_n since they could be reliably measured. β -Glucan molecular weight distribution and Calcofluor average molecular weight (M_{cf}) of β -glucan were determined using size exclusion chromatography with Calcofluor detection according to the method described by Rimsten *et al.* (2003) with a Calcofluor concentration of 0.0025%. With this detection technique, molecules smaller than 10,000 g/mol are excluded from calculations since these shorter fragments cannot be analysed with precision (Munck, 1989).

Fructan molecular weight distribution

Fructan molecular weight distribution was analysed by high performance anion exchange chromatography (HPAEC) with pulsed amperometric detection (PAD). The fructan was extracted in 80% ethanol and the extract was treated with amyloglucosidase to remove the maltooligosaccharides. Later on, the solution was divided into two aliquots and one was treated with fructanase. Finally, both aliquots were filtered and run on HPAEC (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Flow diagram of fructan molecular weight distribution analysis.

The samples were analysed on Dionex DX 500 Chromatography System (Sunnyvale, C.A, USA) equipped with a GP 40 gradient pump. The eluent was 150 mM NaOH (A) at 1.0 ml/min with a gradient of 150 mM NaOH containing 500 mM NaCH₃COO (B); 0-10 min linear gradient 0-20% eluent B; 10-30 min linear gradient 20-100% eluent B; and 30-40 min isocratic at 100% B. Between

runs, the system was flushed with 100% A for 5 min. Chromatography was carried out with a CarboPacTM PA-1 (4×250 mm, P/N 35391) anion exchange column pre-fitted with a CarboPacTM PA-1 guard column (P/N 43096). Detection was carried out by ED40 PAD. The relative distribution (% basis) of different DP ranges was calculated based on the area under the peaks. The area was calculated by subtracting the area of chromatogram without fructan from that with fructan present (Figure 6).



Figure 6. Fructan DP distribution profile of a typical rye grain. The relative area under the chromatogram was calculated by subtracting the area under the fructan chromatogram (---) from the area obtained after fructanase treatment (----).

3.4.4 Enzymatic fingerprinting of arabinoxylan and β -glucan

Enzymatic fingerprinting of AX and β -glucan in cereal grains was performed in Paper IV according to the method described by Saulnier and Quemener (2009) with slight modifications. Finely milled sample (500 mg) was boiled with 80% ethanol to inactivate the enzymes. The residue was dried and treated with *endo*-xylanase and lichenase to hydrolyse the AX and β -glucan, respectively, and subsequently run on HPAEC to measure the fragments released (Figure 7).



Figure 7. Flow diagram of arabinoxylan and β-glucan enzymatic fingerprinting.

The aliquots of the supernatant were analysed on HPAEC equipped with TSP EC2000 PAD. The AX and β -glucan fragment released after enzymatic hydrolysis by *endo*-xylanase M1 and lichenase, respectively, were identified by running standards. The peak areas were normalised for AX and β -glucan fragments. The major gluco-oligosaccharides (GOS) produced after lichenase hydrolysis are 3-*O*- β -cellobiosyl-D-glucose (BG₃) and 3-*O*- β -cellotriosyl-D-

glucose (BG₄), with small quantities of 3-*O*- β -cellotetraosyl-D-glucose (BG₅) and 3-*O*- β -cellopentaosyl-D-glucose (BG₆) (Saulnier & Quemener, 2009; Tosh *et al.*, 2004). The longer cellulose-like sequences with DP > 6 were not analysed in this study. Lichenase, a specific *endo*-(1 \rightarrow 3) (1 \rightarrow 4)- β -D-glucan 4glucanhydrolase, cleaves only β -(1 \rightarrow 4) glycosidic linkages of an O-3 substituted unit. The treatment of WE-AX with an *endo*-xylanase from *Trichoderma viride* generated xylose (X), xylobiose (XX) and a series of arabinoxylan oligosaccharides (AXOS) up to DP 9, as identified in Figure 8. Since *endo*-1 \rightarrow 4- β -xylanase M1 belongs to family 11 of the glycoside hydrolases, it requires at least three unsubstituted xylopyranosyl units in the xylan backbone to split the glycosidic bonds (Bach Knudsen & Lærke, 2010). For nomenclature of different AXOS, see the paper by Fauré *et al.* (2009).



Figure 8. Arabinoxylan and β -glucan fragments released after enzyme treatment. Arabinoxylan oligosaccharides containing letter (A) without any superscript denotes xylose residue with arabinose substituent at position three, while A²⁺³ denotes xylose residue with arabinose substituents at positions two and three.

3.4.5 Rheological measurements

The viscoelastic properties of triticale grains (Paper V) were measured with a new method developed by the author using a rheometer. In brief, the polymers were extracted with boiling water in the presence of thermostable α -amylase to degrade starch, precipitated with 80% ethanol and re-dissolved in a minimum quantity of water to carry out the rheological measurements (Figure 9).



Figure 9. Flow diagram of rheological measurements.

The oscillation test was performed on a Bohlin C-VOR rheometer using constant strain (0.04) and running the frequency sweep (logarithmic) with minimum angular frequency of 0.6283 rad/s and maximum angular frequency of 31.42 rad/s. The above-mentioned strain value lies in the linear viscoelastic region and was obtained by running the amplitude sweep experiment. Cone and plate (CP4/40) type measuring geometry was used, with cone diameter 40 mm and cone angle 4°. The number of test points (samples) was set to 10 (upward only). All measurements were carried out at 25 °C.

3.5 Statistical methods

The results obtained in Paper I were analysed for cultivar and location effects with two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) by Statistical Analysis System Software 9.2 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC). The significance level was set to p < 0.05. Tukey's pair-wise comparisons were made to test the differences between cultivars. Simple linear correlation (Pearson correlation) was carried out between selected parameters.

The data obtained in Paper III were analysed by Minitab 15 statistical software (Minitab Inc., State Collage, PA, USA). The responses from the designed experiment (experiment one) were analysed by regression using the Generalized Linear Model (GLM) procedure with factors defined as covariates. The contents of DF components from experiment one were analysed by one-way ANOVA with the factor resting time. The effect of temperature on the molecular weight of AX (experiment two) was evaluated by the GLM procedure with pH and temperature as factors and temperature defined as covariate.

The data obtained in Paper IV were analysed by Principal Component Analysis (PCA) using The Unscrambler X 10.0.1 (CAMO Software AS, Norway) software. The similarity maps drawn from score plots helped to group samples with comparable features and loading plots were useful to find the relationship between variables. Different conclusions drawn from PCA regarding location effects on the structural features of triticale grain were verified by ANOVA using SAS 9.2.

The results from Paper V were analysed by Partial Least Square (PLS) regression to find the power of different structural and compositional features of DF components to predict viscosity. In this case the software used was The Unscrambler X 10.0.1 (CAMO Software AS, Norway). The location effects on various viscoelastic properties were analysed by ANOVA with SAS 9.2.
4 Results and discussion

4.1 Dietary fibre composition

This section mainly deals with the content and composition of DF and the molecular weight distribution of major DF components, namely AX, β -glucan and fructan in triticale cultivars (n = 8) grown at two locations in Sweden (Svalöv and Kölbäck). Data on rye (cv. Ottarp) and wheat (cv. Harnesk) reference cultivars grown in parallel are also presented and compared with triticale (Paper I). The three rye milling streams (inner endosperm, outer endosperm and bran) studied in Paper II are also discussed. The second part of this section describes the above-mentioned DF parameters in rye products, which were crisp breads (n = 12), soft breads (n = 8), an extruded breakfast cereal, an extruded crisp bread (Paper II) and rye porridge (Paper III).

Although the main focus in triticale characterisation was on DF content and composition, certain physical and chemical parameters important for grain usage were also analysed. In these parameters, location effects were clearly evident, since bulk density (average 745 g/l), 1000 kernel weight (average 56.7 g) and starch content (average 66.5%) were significantly higher in cultivars grown at Svalöv compared with Kölbäck (702 g/l, 46.4 g and 63.5%, respectively). These results were supported by the appearance of grains, with the Kölbäck samples having shrivelled kernels. However, crude protein (average 14.9%), maltose (1.5%), sucrose (1.5%) and ADF (3.4%) contents were significantly higher in cultivars grown at Kölbäck than in those grown at Svalöv (average contents of 13.0%, 0.4%, 1.1% and 3.1%, respectively). Higher rainfall during the growing season at Kölbäck might have prompted the endogenous enzymes activity in kernels, resulting in degradation of carbohydrates and thus leading to higher amount of sugars and lower starch content. Sprouting in the ears, particularly under humid conditions, is a well documented phenomenon in triticale grains (Martinek et al., 2008; Sodkiewicz,

1999). Location effects on other parameters such as crude fat and NDF content were non-significant. Strong positive correlations of bulk density with starch content (r = 0.83) and 1000 kernel weight (r = 0.81) were observed. The slight inverse relationship observed between protein and starch content (r = -0.59) is in agreement with previous findings by Glatthar *et al.* (2005). Compared with reference wheat and rye, the protein content of triticale was higher, which underscores its feeding value, while the starch content of triticale was more similar to wheat than rye, which had a lower content (Paper I).

4.1.1 Dietary fibre content in grains

Total DF content (including fructan) of triticale varied from 13.2% to 16.0% (average 14.6%) (Figure 10). A significant effect of location on total DF content of triticale grains was evident, with cultivars grown at Kölbäck (average 14.7%) having significantly higher contents than those grown at Svalöv (average 14.5%). These location effects were again explained by unfavourable growing conditions at Kölbäck resulting in shrivelled grains. Slightly higher values reported here compared with those in the literature (Picolli da Silva & de Lourdes Santorio Ciocca, 2005; Pettersson & Åman, 1987) can be explained by the fact that fructan is considered part of DF in the calculations. The DF content of triticale is very similar to that of the reference wheat cultivar (13.8%) but much lower than that of the reference rye cultivar (20.2%). Among rye milling fractions studied in Paper II, inner endosperm contained the lowest (11.8%) amount of DF, outer endosperm an intermediate amount (21.8%) and bran the highest amount, 37.7%.

The major component of triticale, rye and wheat DF was AX, which comprised 46.0%, 42.6% and 45.3%, respectively, of the total DF (Table 5). The AX extractability in triticale cultivars grown at Svalöv (average 13.8%) was significantly lower than for Kölbäck (15.2%). These values are considerably lower than those observed for reference rye cultivar (29.5%) or commonly reported for rye AX (26-40%) in the literature (Andersson et al., 2009; Boskov Hansen *et al.*, 2003). The content of β -glucan in triticale cultivars was guite low and varied from 0.5-1.0%, which is similar to that in the reference wheat (0.6%) but far lower than that in the reference rye cultivar (1.9%). β-Glucan extractability of triticale cultivars grown at Svalöv (average 15.3%) was not significantly different from that of those grown at Kölbäck (average 15.1%). Considering the major usage of triticale in animal feed, low amounts of extractable AX and β -glucan are important for its feed value, since the extract viscosity of triticale is proportional to the amount of water extractable non-starch polysaccharides (Pettersson & Åman, 1987). The soluble fraction of DF forms a viscous mass in the animal gut and thereby

lowers nutrient absorption when included in animal feed (Józefiak *et al.*, 2004). To counteract this problem, rye- and triticale-based feed formulations for monogastric animals often include enzyme supplementation to lower the viscosity and improve the feed to weight gain ratio (Józefiak *et al.*, 2007). Fructan was also present in significant quantities in triticale, rye and wheat grains, with average contents of 2.3%, 4.4% and 1.8%, respectively. These values of fructan content in triticale are higher than the average value of 0.8% (n = 80) reported by Pettersson and Åman (1987), but similar to the value (2.2%) mentioned by Huynh *et al.* (2008).



Figure 10. Total dietary fibre content of triticale cultivars grown at Svalöv (\longrightarrow), Kölbäck (\implies) and Haga (\times), wheat and rye reference cultivar (Paper I), and milling fractions of rye (Paper II). Triticale cultivars carrying different letters (lower case) are significantly different from each other *p* < 0.05). The different letters (upper case) on the average values of two regions show location effect.

Table 5. Average content (% of dry matter) of arabinoxylan (AX), β -glucan, fructan, cellulose + resistant starch (RS) and Klason lignin and β -glucan extractability in triticale cultivars, a rye and wheat reference cultivar, rye milling fractions, and rye products.

	AX ^a	β-Glucan content	$\begin{array}{ll} \beta \text{-Glucan} & \text{Fructan} \\ \text{extractability}^{\text{b}} \end{array}$		Cellulose + RS ^c	Klason lignin
Grains						
Triticale ¹ ($n = 18$)	6.7	0.7	15.0	2.3	2.1	1.5
$Svalöv^d (n = 8)$	6.7 ^B	0.7^{A}	15.3 ^A	2.2 ^A	2.1 ^A	1.5 ^A
Kölbäck ^d ($n = 8$)	6.9 ^A	0.6 ^B	15.1 ^A	2.3 ^A	2.1 ^A	1.6 ^A
Rye ¹	8.6	1.9	11.4	4.4	2.2	1.7
Rye inner endosperm ²	4.4	1.5	26.0	3.4	1.2	0.2
Rye outer endosperm ²	9.3	3.4	17.0	4.6	2.1	0.5
Rye bran ²	18.2	4.4	16.0	5.0	4.3	3.0
Wheat ¹	6.2	0.6	18.6	1.8	2.2	1.6
Products						
Crisp breads ² $(n = 12)$	7.8	1.9	29	2.8	2.4	1.3
Soft breads ² ($n = 8$)	5.4	1.2	35	1.6	2.5	0.6
Extruded crisp bread ²	4.1	0.9	47	1.4	1.1	0.7
Breakfast cereal ²	5.3	2.3	54	2.8	1.5	0.8
Rye porridge without resting ³	8.6	2.3	17	3.9	4.5	2.4
Rye porridge rested for 60 min ³	8.6	2.3	24	4.1	4.4	2.6

^aAX was calculated by subtracting the arabinose fraction that is part of arabinogalactan and assuming that the arabinose/galactose ratio in extractable arabinogalactan is 0.69.

^bβ-Glucan extractability values were obtained from molecular weight determinations (Rimsten et al., 2003).

^cOnly cellulose in the case of grains or milling fractions. Cellulose + RS values were calculated by subtracting the β -glucan from total glucose value obtained through the Uppsala method (Theander *et al.*, 1995).

^dValues within columns for triticale cultivars grown at Svalöv and Kölbäck and followed by different letters (upper case) are significantly different from each other (p < 0.05).

¹Paper 1; ²Paper II; ³Paper III

4.1.2 Dietary fibre content in products

Rye products studied in Paper II varied widely in their composition and processing (labelling information). Whole grain rye flour was the major ingredient of crisp breads, but a few of them contained some wheat flour. By contrast, wheat flour was present in most of the soft breads as a major ingredient, followed by rye flour. An appreciable amount of oat flour (30%) was present in the extruded breakfast cereal.

Among the rye products studied, there was a wider variation in total DF content (including fructan) of soft breads (range 7.9-17.5%) compared with crisp breads (range 13.0-19.8%) (Paper II), as shown in Figure 11. Average DF content in crisp breads (17.8%) was considerably higher than that in soft breads

(12.6%). The key reason for lower DF content in soft breads is the dilution effect due to addition of wheat flour for gluten development. As discussed previously, the DF content of wheat is significantly lower than that of rye. The two extruded products, i.e. breakfast cereal and extruded crisp bread, contained 14.3% and 9.4% DF, respectively. When comparing the DF content listed on the product label against the analysed value, surprisingly many manufacturers were reporting lower values, probably due to non-inclusion of fructan in DF calculations (Paper II). Rye porridge (Paper III) cooked with or without resting was higher in DF content (23%) compared with the rye products studied in Paper II. Formation of RS of type III (about 2.5%) contributed towards the high total DF content of porridge.



Figure 11. Total dietary fibre content of crisp breads, soft breads, extruded products (Paper II) and rye porridge (Paper III).

Similarly to rye grain, AX was the major component of DF in rye products studied in Paper II and its average content in crisp breads (7.8%) and soft breads (5.4%) was lower than that in porridge (8.6%) (Table 5). Rye products are a good source of β -glucan in the diet in Eastern and Northern Europe, since they are consumed in larger quantities than products made from barley and oats, the cereals with the highest β -glucan content. The β -glucan content of breakfast cereal and porridge was 2.3%, followed by crisp breads (average 1.9%) and soft breads (average 1.2%). The presence of whole grain oat flour in breakfast cereal explains the high β -glucan content. Fructan, a soluble DF component, is present in appreciable amounts in rye-based products.

fructan content of crisp breads (average 2.8%) was considerably higher than that of soft breads (average 1.6%) or extruded crisp bread (1.4%), while porridge had a similar content to rye grain ($\approx 4\%$). In a study by Whelen *et al.* (2011), the amount of fructan in rye bread (3.3%) was more than double that in wheat breads (0.9-1.6%). The average content of cellulose and RS (analysed together) in crisp breads and soft breads was similar ($\approx 2.5\%$) and lower than observed in porridge (4.5%). However, the relatively wider variation in cellulose and RS content in soft breads (range 0.7-4.1%) compared with crisp breads (range 1.7-3%) can be attributed to diversity of ingredients and processing conditions. Klason lignin, a non-carbohydrate part of DF, was present in smaller amounts. The huge variability in the content of DF components in rye products can partly be attributed to variation in ingredients, since contents may vary in different cereals, within cultivars of a cereal and botanical fractions of the grain (Huynh et al., 2008; Boskov Hansen et al., 2003; Karppinen et al., 2003). Other major factors in variable DF composition can be diversity of processing in different products (Andersson *et al.*, 2009; Karppinen et al., 2003), an issue discussed later in this thesis.

4.1.3 Molecular weight profile of dietary fibre in grains

The M_w and M_n of AX in triticale cultivars grown at Svalöv (average 15.4 \times 10^5 g/mol and 6.4×10^5 g/mol, respectively) was significantly higher than that in cultivars from Kölbäck (average 14.3×10^5 g/mol and 4.9×10^5 g/mol, respectively) (Table 6). This can also be observed in AX molecular weight distribution profiles, where triticale grown at Kölbäck had a shift towards low molecular weight fractions (Figure 12). The average M_w values observed in triticale here were higher than those $(5.7 \times 10^5 \text{ g/mol})$ measured by Girhammar and Nair (1992) using gel permeation chromatography. Triticale M_w values were lower than rye $M_{\rm w}$ values observed in this study (17.2 \times 10⁵ g/mol) and those reported previously $(20.0 \times 10^5 \text{ g/mol})$ by Andersson *et al.* (2009). Polydispersity index (M_w/M_n) of AX was significantly higher for triticale grown at Kölbäck (3.0) than Svalöv (2.4), reflecting the broader AX molecular weight distribution at Kölbäck. Degree of arabinose substitution on the xylan backbone (A/X ratio) in triticale was similar to reference rye and was not affected by location. However, the reference wheat cultivar carried slightly less arabinose branching. Significant location effects on M_{cf} of β -glucan in triticale were also evident (Table 6). The M_{cf} of cultivars grown at Svalöv (average 3.8 \times 10⁵ g/mol) was more than double that of those grown at Kölbäck (average 1.7×10^5 g/mol). These results are evident from β -glucan molecular weight distribution profiles of triticale (Figure 12). Cultivars grown at Kölbäck had a narrow and unimodal molecular weight distribution of β-glucan, whereas in

cultivars grown at Svalöv, a relatively broader and bimodal distribution was observed, with a considerable fraction of high molecular weight β -glucan. The low M_{cf} values of triticale at Kölbäck and lack of a high molecular weight fraction can probably be attributed to pre-harvest enzymatic (endogenous) action. Triticale cultivars grown at Svalöv were significantly higher in long-chain (DP > 9) fructan molecules than those from Kölbäck, while the reverse was true for short-chain (DP 3-9) fructan (Table 6).

Table 6. Weight average (M_w) and number average (M_n) molecular weight of arabinoxylan (g/mol), polydispersity index (M_w/M_n) , arabinose/xylose (A/X) ratio, Calcofluor average molecular weight (M_{cf}) of β -glucan (g/mol) and relative distribution (%) of fructan with degree of polymerisation (DP) 3-9, > 9 in triticale cultivars, a rye and wheat reference cultivar, rye milling fractions, and rye products.

	Arabinoxylan			β-Glucan	Fructan		
	$M_w \times 10^5$	$M_n \times 10^5$	M_w/M_n	A/X	$M_{cf} imes 10^5$	DP 3-9	DP > 9
Grains							
Triticale ¹ ($n = 18$)	11.5	5.7	2.7	0.62	2.9	81	19
Svalöv ^a $(n = 8)$	15.4 ^A	6.4 ^A	2.4 ^B	0.62 ^A	3.8 ^A	79 ^B	21 ^A
Kölbäck ^a $(n = 8)$	14.3 ^B	4.9 ^B	3.0 ^A	0.63 ^A	1.7 ^B	83 ^A	17^{B}
Rye ¹	17.2	15.5	1.1	0.59	7.7	59	41
Rye inner endosperm ²	10.7	3.7	2.9	0.66	13.3	49	51
Rye outer endosperm ²	11.0	5.5	2.0	0.65	13.1	48	52
Rye bran ²	13.8	7.2	1.9	0.50	8.6	52	48
Wheat ¹	11.8	4.9	2.4	0.53	4.1	74	26
Products							
Crisp breads ² ($n = 12$)	9.9	3.3	3.1	0.53	3.7	49	51
Soft breads ² ($n = 8$)	13.3	4.1	3.3	0.49	3.0	47	53
Extruded crisp bread ²	6.9	2.6	2.7	0.58	10.6	69	31
Breakfast cereal ²	9.5	7.0	1.4	0.53	15.0	58	42
Rye porridge without resting ³	14.3	9.6	1.5	0.57	8.9	50	50
Rye porridge rested for 60 min ³	14.0	9.3	1.5	0.57	4.3	51	49

^aValues within columns for triticale cultivars grown at Svalöv and Kölbäck and followed by different letters (upper case) are significantly different from each other (p < 0.05).

¹Paper 1; ²Paper II; ³Paper III

This degradation of AX, β -glucan and fructan can possibly be attributed to endogenous enzymes. The presence of endogenous xylanases and β -glucanases in cereals is well established (Andersson *et al.*, 2003; Boskov Hansen *et al.*, 2002; Rasmussen *et al.*, 2001; Bonnin *et al.*, 1998). The activity of these endogenous enzymes is affected by both environmental and genetic factors (Gebruers *et al.*, 2010a). Falling number is one estimate of enzyme activity and in this study the falling number values of most cultivars were below the detection limit of the instrument. Low falling number values for triticale compared with wheat and rye have previously been reported by Erekul and Köhn (2006). Humid conditions with high rainfall were featured during the growing season at Kölbäck, which might have triggered enzyme activity and degradation of AX and β -glucan.



Figure 12. Average molecular weight distributions of arabinoxylan and β -glucan in triticale cultivars (n = 8) grown at two locations in Sweden. The dotted lines around the molecular weight distributions show the standard deviations.

This investigation revealed genotypic and environmental variation in triticale DF profile. Some cultivars were found to be stable and were not affected by the quite different growing conditions in the two regions. These cultivars can be ideally suited for large-scale production of triticale across Sweden and will not require immense modifications in feed formulations depending on growing region. However, yield must be considered along with DF profile when assessing the potential of any cultivar for mass production. On the whole, triticale appeared to be more similar to wheat than rye in its DF profile.

4.1.4 Molecular weight profile of dietary fibre in products

Average molecular weight of AX, β -glucan and fructan in rye products is presented in Table 6. Soft breads AX exhibited exceedingly broad variation in M_w values (range 8.0×10^5 -22.2 $\times 10^5$ g/mol) compared with crisp breads AX (range 8.5×10^5 -11.0 $\times 10^5$ g/mol) (Paper II). Relatively wider ranges were also observed for M_n and polydispersity index in soft breads. High polydispersity index means that the molecular weight distribution in soft breads spans over a wide range. This broad variation in AX molecular weight parameters of soft breads can be explained by diversity of ingredients and processing. Rye porridges contained AX with high M_w (average 14.0 \times 10⁵ g/mol), which is similar to M_w commonly observed in rye flour (Paper III). In contrast to the high average values of AX molecular weight parameters in soft breads, average M_{cf} values of β -glucan were relatively higher for crisp breads $(3.7 \times 10^5 \text{ g/mol})$ than soft breads $(3.0 \times 10^5 \text{ g/mol})$. The highest M_{cf} values, however, were observed for breakfast cereal (15.0×10^5 g/mol), followed by extruded crisp bread (10.6 \times 10⁵ g/mol). The porridge made without resting $(8.9 \times 10^5 \text{ g/mol})$ or with 60 min resting $(4.3 \times 10^5 \text{ g/mol})$ also retained β glucan molecular weight better than most of the crisp breads or soft breads. Average fructan DP distributions were similar in crisp breads and soft breads, while extruded crisp bread had a higher level of fructan with relative DP 3-9 (69%). The porridges were similar to the rye base flour in their fructan DP distribution. Processing- and ingredient-related variation within crisp breads and soft breads on fructan DP distribution was present and is discussed in detail in the following section, along with AX and β -glucan molecular weight distribution profiles.

4.2 Processing effects on dietary fibre and its components

In this section, processing-generated variation in content, extractability and particularly molecular weight distribution of extractable DF components, i.e. AX, β -glucan and fructan, is discussed. Results from Paper II, which deals with

different rye-based products prepared by different processes, and Paper III, which investigates the impact of different variables of porridge making on molecular weight distribution of extractable DF, form the basis of the discussion.

The content of total DF may increase or decrease depending upon type of processing. Other than ingredient-related variation, the wide range of DF content in rye crisp breads and soft breads (Paper II) can partly be attributed to processing. During bread making, when rigorous processing is involved, total content of DF is said to be decreased along with a change in relative proportion of soluble DF (Boskov Hansen et al., 2002). That study reported an almost 25% decrease in the content of total DF during rve bread making, while the relative proportion of water extractable DF increased from 23% in rye whole grain meal to 31% in dough samples. During porridge making, the amount of total DF increased from 20.0% in rye flour to 23.0% in porridge, mainly due to RS formation of type III (retrograded amylose) (Paper III). The extent of RS formation is dependent on processing conditions and ingredients (Dewettinck et al., 2008). This can also be seen from our rye products study, where wider variation in content of RS + cellulose (analysed together) was observed in soft breads (0.7-4.1%) compared with crisp breads (1.7-3.0%) (Paper II). The formation of RS takes place during re-crystallisation of gelatinised starch (Englyst & Macfarlane, 1986).

4.2.1 Arabinoxylan

AX is the major DF component in cereals and is prone to processing-related changes. The fluctuation in AX content in the crisp breads studied in Paper II was not large and the majority of them contained about 8% total AX. This is probably due to more uniform ingredient composition and processing conditions. In contrast, huge variability was observed in the AX content of soft breads (range 3.1-8.5%), probably reflecting diverse ingredients and processing. Processing-related changes in AX content and molecular weight have been the focus of many previous studies (Dornez et al., 2008; Boskov Hansen et al., 2002; Cleemput et al., 1997; Rouau, 1993). During bread making, the total content of AX may decrease, while WE-AX increases (Boskov Hansen et al., 2002). The different steps in bread making, i.e. mixing, fermentation/proofing and baking, are an important determinant of the fate of AX in bread loaves (Dornez et al., 2008). Observations by Cleemput et al. (1997) support AX solubilisation during bread making, since 7-12% of the water unextractable AX became soluble after mixing and this increased up to 30% after baking. In the porridge study (Paper III), the total content of AX remained unchanged during porridge preparation with increasing rest time,

addition of salt or amount of flour in the recipe. However, a very small but significant (p = 0.002) increase in the content of extractable AX was apparent during 1 h resting at 20 °C before cooking. As reported previously, AX solubilisation can result from mechanical or enzymatic effects (Dornez *et al.*, 2008; Cleemput *et al.*, 1997). Since not much work input was involved during porridge making other than occasional mixing, the prospects of mechanical solubilisation are limited. More variability in the A/X ratio of soft breads (range 0.31-0.56) compared with crisp breads (range 0.50-0.55) might also have originated from the bread making process (Paper II). Earlier, Rouau *et al.* (1994) demonstrated a decrease in A/X ratio after mixing and fermentation.

Processing effects on molecular weight distribution of extractable AX were visible in crisp breads and soft breads (Paper II). The wide range in M_w of soft breads (8.0 $\times 10^5$ - 22.0 $\times 10^5$ g/mol) compared with crisp breads (8.5 $\times 10^5$ - 11.0×10^5 g/mol) can partly be related to processing. The AX molecular weight distribution profiles of a sample of crisp bread, soft bread, extruded breakfast cereal, whole meal rye flour and porridge cooked with or without resting are presented in Figure 13. The differences in AX molecular weight distribution of crisp bread and soft bread are conspicuous. The sample of crisp bread does not show significant degradation, while the soft bread has a visible low molecular weight fraction. This concurs with the results of Andersson et al. (2009), where limited degradation in AX molecules was observed during crisp bread baking, while soft bread with sour dough displayed notable degradation. In bread making, AX hydrolysis may occur during mixing or fermentation and result in an increase in the proportion of low molecular weight fraction, with concomitant loss of long-chain fraction (Andersson et al., 2009; Cleemput et al., 1997). Those authors ascribed these changes in molecular weight distribution of AX during bread making to endogenous enzymes. High M_w in some of the soft breads might be the result of free radical-mediated oxidative cross-linking of AX molecules through feruloyl groups and formation of aggregates (Cleemput et al., 1997; Markwalder & Neukom, 1976). In extruded breakfast cereal there was a very narrow distribution of AX molecular weight, with no signs of processing-related degradation, underscoring the usefulness of extrusion for processing.



Figure 13. Arabinoxylan molecular weight distributions of crisp bread, soft bread, breakfast cereal, rye flour and porridges cooked without resting (1) and after 60 min resting (2).

During porridge preparation (Paper III), the effects of rest time and the amount of salt and flour in the recipe on M_w and M_n of AX were non-significant. The slight increase observed in AX M_w of porridges (on average 14.0 × 10⁵ g/mol) compared with flour $(12.0 \times 10^5 \text{ g/mol})$ might be due to increased AX solubility of high molecular weight fraction or perhaps oxidative cross-linking. Likewise, AX molecular weight distribution profiles of porridges cooked with or without resting were very similar and only slight differences from base flour were observed (Figure 13), indicating stability of AX during resting. This nonaction of xylanases on AX during 1 h resting was presumed to be due to nonoptimal temperature (20 °C) and pH (6.2) during porridge making. A second experiment was performed to investigate the impact of temperature and pH on $M_{\rm w}$ by incubating rye flour slurries at different temperature (20, 35, 45, 55 °C) and pH levels (4.5, 6.2). The results showed a significant decrease in M_w due to incubation temperature (p = 0.012), while pH resulted in a non-significant (p >0.05) decrease. Previous findings by Rasmussen et al. (2001) on temperature and pH optima of endogenous AX-degrading enzymes native to rye confirm this assumption. The optimum temperature for major endogenous enzymes in cereals responsible for the breakdown of AX molecules, i.e. *endo*- $(1\rightarrow 4)$ - β -Dxylanase (EC 3.2.1.8), α -L-arabinosidase (EC 3.2.1.55) and β -D-xylosidase (3.2.1.37), is 40, 60 and 70 °C respectively, while the optimum pH is \approx 4.5. In

contrast to porridge, pH of dough (particularly sourdough) is ≈ 4.5 , which makes it more prone to AX degradation by xylanases. Furthermore, bread proofing is carried out at 40-45 °C which is suited to yeast (Cauvain, 2003). This temperature is also optimum for cereal *endo*-(1 \rightarrow 4)- β -D-xylanase, which hydrolyses (1 \rightarrow 4)- β -D-xylosidic linkages internally, resulting in a decrease in chain length.

Apart from endogenous enzymes, xylanase activity is also contributed from microbes present on the surface of the grain (Dornez *et al.*, 2009; Dornez *et al.*, 2008). During milling, the majority of these enzymes end up in the shorts or bran fraction of the roller mill and partly in flour streams. However, these microbial xylanases can be avoided to a great extent by debranning or surface treatment of the grain (Dornez *et al.*, 2009). The presence of xylanase inhibitors such as *Triticum aestivum* xylanase inhibitor (TAXI)-type and xylanases (Goesaert *et al.*, 2004; Debyser *et al.*, 1999). Therefore, the degree of AX degradation might be determined by pre-processing of the grain. The level and type of the enzymes in cereal grain also depend on multiple factors such as grain species, cultivar, tissue, growing environment, etc. (Dornez *et al.*, 2009).

4.2.2 β-Glucan

The content, extractability and molecular weight distribution of β -glucan may change during processing (Tiwari & Cummins, 2009). In our bread study (Paper II), most of the crisp breads contained similar β -glucan content ($\approx 2\%$), which is comparable to that commonly reported for rye flour (1.3-2.2%) (Boskov Hansen *et al.*, 2003). Likewise, in the porridge study, the content of β glucan remained unchanged during 1 h incubation at 20 °C before cooking and during cooking (Table 5, Paper III). This agrees with observations by Rose *et al.* (2010) during jet cooking of barley flour, Åman *et al.* (2004) during cooking of oat-based porridge and Jaskari *et al.* (1995) during hydrothermal treatment of oat bran at 95 °C for 20 min. Looking at the present results and previous studies, one could speculate that hydrothermal treatment, i.e. cooking, boiling, pasteurisation or baking, in itself does not result in loss of β -glucan. β glucan is still quantifiable by the enzymatic method even though it is degraded during bread making or porridge preparation due to the activity of endogenous enzymes native to cereal grains (Andersson *et al.*, 2008).

Bread making may improve β -glucan extractability, as the polymer was more extractable in the soft breads (average 35%) and crisp breads (average 29%) studied in Paper II (Table 5) compared with typical whole grain rye (11%) or wheat flour (19%) (Paper I). An earlier study by Andersson *et al.*

(2008) also demonstrated an increase in β -glucan extractability during bread making. Both mixing and fermentation facilitated β-glucan release from the insoluble matrix, while baking itself did not improve extractability. However, the highest β-glucan extractability was observed in extruded breakfast cereal (54%), followed by extruded crisp bread (47%) (Paper II). Small amounts of oats and barley flour might have contributed to the high extractability of β glucan in breakfast cereal and extruded crisp bread, respectively. However, a previous study by Vasanthan et al. (2002) also demonstrated increased extractability of β-glucan in barley flour during extrusion cooking. The increase in extractability was dependent on processing conditions, mainly temperature and moisture. Further support for increased extractability during extrusion can be derived from the findings of Beck et al. (2009) and Tosh et al. (2010). During porridge preparation, extractability of β -glucan also increased significantly (p = 0.016) due to rest time before cooking of porridge (Paper III). The extractability of rye flour used in the porridge study was 14% which went up to 17% in porridge cooked without resting and 24% in porridge rested for 60 min before cooking. This is equivalent to a 41% increase in β -glucan extractability over 1 h resting. Consequently, hydrothermal treatment aimed to open up the physical barriers for water absorption also rendered β-glucan more soluble. It can therefore be summarised that the polymer normally becomes more soluble during processing, probably due to hydrolysis of the polymer to short-chain molecules, which are easily extractable.

Studying molecular weight distribution is a more sensitive way to track processing-related degradation of the β -glucan. During bread making, β -glucan degradation results in decreased M_{cf} and a shift towards low molecular weight fraction. The average M_{cf} of crisp breads (3.7 × 10⁵ g/mol) was relatively high compared with that of soft breads $(3.0 \times 10^5 \text{ g/mol})$ (Table 6). This difference can be seen from the β -glucan molecular weight distribution profile of a crisp bread and soft bread sample (Figure 14). Apart from inclusion of wheat in most of the soft bread, processing also contributed towards low molecular weight of β -glucan. Presence of sourdough did not seem to influence the β -glucan degradation, confirming similar observations reported by Aman et al. (2004). However, Andersson et al. (2009) observed a slightly decreasing proportion of high molecular weight β -glucan fraction in the order of air-leavened rye crisp bread, sourdough rye bread and yeast-leavened rye crisp bread. Mixing and fermentation of the dough are the most critical steps during bread making and result in a significant decrease in M_{cf} , whereas yeast and water content had non-significant effects (Andersson et al., 2008; Andersson et al., 2004). Those authors also noted that differences in M_{cf} values of dough and bread loaves were non-significant, suggesting a negligible role of baking on β -glucan M_{cf} .



Figure 14. β -Glucan molecular weight distribution of crisp bread, soft bread, breakfast cereal, rye flour and porridges cooked without resting (1) and after 60 min resting (2).

Compared with crisp breads or soft breads, the two extruded products retained the β -glucan molecular weight to a greater degree (Table 6, Paper II). The distribution profile of breakfast cereal showed very narrow β -glucan molecular weight distribution with no apparent signs of degradation (Figure 14). The breakfast cereal had the highest M_{cf} (15.0 × 10⁵ g/mol), followed by extruded crisp bread (10.6 × 10⁵ g/mol). These results support earlier findings by Åman *et al.* (2004), where extruded oat product showed a monomodal distribution profile and β -glucan retained high molecular weight compared with other commercial oat-based foods. Despite the high shear and temperature used during extrusion cooking, the time is relatively short, which keeps β -glucan molecules intact (Tosh *et al.*, 2010; Beck *et al.*, 2009). It can therefore be assumed that extrusion is a comparatively better processing technique when the objective is to prepare products with retained β -glucan M_{cf} .

During porridge preparation, the M_{cf} of β -glucan was affected significantly by rest time (p < 0.001), amount of salt (p = 0.043) and flour (p = 0.019), as shown in Figure 15. The average M_{cf} value of porridge prepared without any rest time was 8.9×10^5 g/mol, which decreased by 51% to 4.3×10^5 g/mol during 1 h resting before cooking. The small but significant decrease in M_{cf} observed with the addition of salt might be attributable to increased endogenous enzyme activity. However, no plausible explanation can be given for the small decrease in M_{cf} with increasing amount of flour. The decrease in

β-glucan molecular weight may not be from cooking itself, since previous findings support stability of the polymer during porridge preparation, provided that endogenous enzymes are not activated (Åman *et al.*, 2004; Beer *et al.*, 1997). This degradation of β-glucan can rather be attributed to endogenous β-glucanases native to cereal grain or β-glucan hydrolases of microbial origin (Andersson *et al.*, 2008; Flander *et al.*, 2007; Mälkki & Virtanen, 2001; Zhang *et al.*, 1997). When flour is hydrated, *endo*-β-glucanases become active and cut the polymer randomly, resulting in a sharp decrease in average molecular weight of β-glucan. The molecular weight distribution profile of rye flour showed quite a high proportion of long-chain fraction (Figure 14). A sharp decline in long-chain fraction was evident in porridge cooked without resting, indicating rapid action of endogenous β-glucanases. By looking at the distribution profiles of porridges cooked with increasing rest time (Paper III) and previous results from Andersson *et al.* (2008), it is logical to conclude that most of the enzyme action takes place within the first few minutes.



Figure 15. Main effects of rest time before cooking, amount of salt and amount of flour in the recipe of rye porridge on Calcofluor average molecular weight of β -glucan.

Endogenous enzyme activity varies among cultivars, and flours with high endogenous enzyme activity end up with lower M_{cf} in bread loaves (Andersson et al., 2009; Andersson et al., 2008). Further differences in the activity of endogenous enzymes can be observed in various botanical parts of the grain and it is high in aleurone and sub-aleurone layers (Andersson et al., 2003). Depolymerisation of β-glucan can be carried out by four classes of βglucanases, namely $(1\rightarrow 4)$ - β -glucan 4-glucanohydrolase (cellulase, E.C. 3.2.1.4), laminarinase (E.C. 3.2.1.6), $(1\rightarrow 3)$ $(1\rightarrow 4)$ - β -glucan 4glucanohydrolase (lichenase, E.C. 3.2.1.73) and $(1\rightarrow 3)$ - β -glucan glucanohydrolase (endo- $(1\rightarrow 3)$ - β -glucanase, E.C. 3.2.1.39) (Kanauchi & Bamforth, 2008; Poutanen, 1997).

4.2.3 Fructan

The wide range of fructan content in rye breads (0.8-4.0%) may be partly associated with processing (Paper II). Some crisp breads (baked without yeast) contained as much fructan as commonly observed in whole grain rye flour (4.1%, n = 18) (Andersson *et al.*, 2009). On the other hand, soft breads, the majority of which contained yeast and sourdough, were quite low in fructan compared with crisp breads. Apart from diverse ingredients, large variations in the fructan content of soft breads may arise from processing. Observations by Andersson et al. (2009) substantiate this claim of a processing-originated decrease in fructan content in rye breads. The initial content of 5% fructan in rye grain (cv. Kaskelott) decreased by 6% in air-leavened crisp bread, 32% in yeast-leavened crisp bread and 62% in sourdough rye bread. It is evident that crisp bread baked without yeast had nearly as much fructan as the grain, while in sourdough bread the majority of fructan was degraded, findings confirmed by our observations (Paper II). The relatively low pH of sourdough might aid fructan degradation, since low pH is favourable for hydrolysis of fructan (Matusek et al., 2009; Franck, 2002). While following the pattern of fructan degradation during various steps of rye bread making, Boskov Hansen et al. (2002) found a 26% decrease in freshly prepared dough which subsequently went up to 34% in dough after proofing and 45% in bread crumb. This degradation of fructan during rye bread making has been ascribed to baker's yeast and yeast of sourdough by Fretzdorff and Welge (2003). Those authors further stated that final fructan content in bread loaf is dependent on fermentation and baking time. In another observation by Meyer and Peters (2009), yeast with low invertase activity resulted in only 13% loss of inulintype fructan, compared with 37% by high invertase activity yeast in the bread study.

In porridge making, where no yeast is involved, the fructan content remained unaffected with increasing rest time before cooking or cooking time (2, 10, 20 min) (Paper III). This implies that cereal fructan is quite stable to heating at cooking temperature in the presence of water. Similar observations were made by L'Homme *et al.* (2003) for fruit matrices such as banana puree, where fructan showed no signs of degradation during cooking for 30 min at 80-110 °C. Therefore it is tempting to assume that pasteurisation, cooking or boiling under normal conditions will not render fructan degraded (Franck, 2002). In contrast, dry heating of inulin (from chicory) at 195 °C for 60 min can result in almost 100% degradation and form new products of fructose anhydrides (Böhm *et al.*, 2005). However, those authors observed negligible degradation at 100 °C and heating for 60 min under water-free conditions.

Our results illustrate the preference of yeast for short DP fructan, since breads containing yeast had smaller relative proportions of DP 3-4 and DP 5-9 (Paper II). This fact can be visualised from fructan distribution profiles of crisp bread baked without yeast, soft bread baked with yeast and sourdough, and extruded breakfast cereal (Figure 16). The fructan DP distribution of crisp bread was very similar to that of rye flour studied in Paper III, while soft bread showed a significantly lower relative proportion of short DP fructan than crisp bread. The extruded breakfast cereal, which also lacked yeast, contained a high proportion of DP \leq 9. This predisposition of yeast towards low DP fructan has been reported previously (Meyer & Peters, 2009; Praznik *et al.*, 2002). In breads containing inulin-type fructan from Jerusalem artichoke, fructooligosaccharides of DP 3-4 have proven to be extremely labile to yeast fermentation compared with long DP inulin (Praznik *et al.*, 2002).



Figure 16. Fructan DP distribution profiles of crisp bread, soft bread (baked with yeast and sourdough) and breakfast cereal (extruded). Dashed line shows DP distribution after fructanase treatment.

In the porridge experiment, the effect of variable rest time before cooking and amount of salt and flour on the relative DP distribution of fructan was non-significant (Paper III). The chromatograms of flour and porridges rested for 60 min were very similar, indicating stability of fructan during rye porridge making. Thus, endogenous fructan *exo*-hydrolases (FEHs), if present, appear to

have very low activity. The complexity of linkages in cereal fructan and the specificity of FEHs might provide an explanation for the stability of fructan to endogenous enzymes in rye (Chalmers *et al.*, 2005; Kawakami *et al.*, 2005). Another explanation for the non-action of endogenous enzymes during resting could be the sub-optimal temperature and pH (20 °C and 6.2, respectively), since the optimum temperature and pH for FEH activity is around 40 °C and 4.5-5.5, respectively (Van den Ende *et al.*, 2003; Marx *et al.*, 1997). This stability of fructan to endogenous enzymes was also witnessed in the bread study (Paper II), where the crisp breads made without yeast had very similar fructan profile to the rye grain. This is an important consideration for modern processing of rye products, where the aim is to avoid losses of physiological functions associated with DF components. However, no previous study targeting fructan degradation by endogenous enzymes during processing could be found in the literature.

In brief, the physiological behaviour of different products can vary depending upon the extent of degradation of DF components. Rye products may contain as much DF as grain or even more, depending upon the type and extent of processing. Crisp breads normally contain significantly higher DF than soft breads and may retain molecular weight better. Compared with breads, extruded products retain molecular weight with a concurrent increase in solubility, while porridge is least degraded in extractable DF components. Cereal porridge or extruded products can therefore be more efficient in providing the physiological benefits associated with DF.

4.3 Enzymatic fingerprinting of arabinoxylan and β-glucan

Structural features of AX and β -glucan are considered important for their functional properties (Cui & Wang, 2009; Vinkx & Delcour, 1996). Interpretation of structural features determined through enzymatic hydrolysis of AX and β -glucan showed significant diversity in triticale, barley and tritordium grains (Paper IV).

4.3.1 Enzymatic hydrolysis of arabinoxylan

Here the focus is on structural features of triticale AX only, since AX constitutes about 50% of the DF in triticale, while most of the AX in barley is unextractable with water (Viëtor *et al.*, 1992) and very low relative area was observed under the AX peaks in barley. PCA of relative proportions of AX fragments from triticale cultivars grown at two different locations is presented in Figure 17. Principal component (PC) 1 of score plot separates the cultivars along two growth regions and is driven by fragments X and XX. The cultivars

grown at Kölbäck were significantly higher (p < 0.05) in fragment X (average 24.4%) compared with those grown at Svalöv (average 20.4%), as is visible from concurrent look at score and loading plot. Cultivar DED 145/02 grown at Svalöv appears to be an odd sample, with features more similar to cultivars from Kölbäck. Conversely, triticale cultivars grown at Svalöv were significantly higher in mono-substituted and di-substituted AXOS with the exception of XA²⁺³XX and XA²⁺³A²⁺³XX, where non-significant differences were observed (Paper IV). The relatively higher proportion of branched fragments in cultivars grown at Svalöv is not supported by A/X ratio of total AX which was similar for cultivars grown at Svalöv (average 0.62) and Kölbäck (average 0.63). Earlier work by Ordaz-Ortiz et al. (2005) has demonstrated a strong positive correlation between A/X ratio and proportion of di-substituted xylose residues in wheat WE-AX (r = 0.96). One reason for the lack of correlation between A/X ratio and extent of substitution in this study can be different extraction conditions, since $\approx 70\%$ of the AX is extractable in this experiment (Ordaz-Ortiz & Saulnier, 2005). Along the PC2 of loading plot, the separation of cultivars is based on extent of substitution. The cultivars falling on the negative end of PC2 have more mono-substitution compared with those lying on the positive end of PC2. The variation along PC2 is thus genetically controlled. A/X ratio of total AX seems to have little meaning in explaining the substitution pattern visible in this plot since it lies on the origin of PC2. The first two PCs accounted for 67% of the variation in data.



Figure 17. Score plot (a) and loading plot (b) from PCA of AX content, A/X ratio and AX fragments (X, XX & AXOS) released after enzymatic hydrolysis. AXOS containing letter (A) without any superscript denotes xylose residue with arabinose substituent at position three, while A^{2+3} denotes xylose residue with arabinose substituents at positions two and three. (Δ = triticale at Svalöv, \circ = triticale at Kölbäck, \Box = triticale at Haga)

4.3.2 Enzymatic hydrolysis of β-glucan

β-Glucan is an important component of endosperm cell walls of barley and most of it is water soluble (Cui & Wang, 2009). Lichenase hydrolysis of watersoluble β-glucan in barley yields fragments of DP up to 13 (Izydorczyk et al., 1998a), while the water-insoluble part of β -glucan may yield much longer cellulose-like sequences up to DP 20 (Izydorczyk et al., 1998b). However, in this experiment we analysed GOS up to DP 6. Among the oligomers released BG₃ and BG₄ are most predominant and molar ratio of BG₃/BG₄ forms the fingerprint of a particular cereal (Cui & Wang, 2009). Among cereals studied in this experiment, molar ratio of BG₃/BG₄ ranged from 2.3-3.3 in barley, 2.5-3.4 in triticale and 2.8-3.4 in tritordium (Paper IV). Likewise molar proportion of BG₃+BG₄ in twenty barley cultivars/breeding lines ranged from 93.8-95.6% (average 95%). These values appear to be slightly higher than those observed by Irakali et al. (2004) for barley β -glucan, where 91-92% of the total oligomers consisted of BG₃+BG₄. The slightly higher values observed in our study are due to the fact that we accounted for oligosaccharides up to DP 6 and normalised the relative area under each peak. Molar proportion of trisaccharides and tetrasaccharides accounted for 88.3% in triticale and 86.5% in tritordium. Both ratio and molar proportion of trisaccharides and tetrasaccharides are important for physico-chemical properties such as solubility (Cui & Wang, 2009). β-Glucan extractability of cereals studied was found to be positively correlated (r = 0.75) with proportion of trisaccharides and tetrasaccharides. In contrast, a slight negative correlation of extractability with DP 5 (r = -0.79) and DP 6 (r = -0.57) was observed. No apparent correlation of BG₃/BG₄ with β -glucan extractability (r = -0.25) could be established. The ratio of BG3/BG4 is influenced by both genetic and environmental factors (Izydorczyk & Dexter, 2008). Barley genotypes with waxy starch are reported to exhibit higher BG₃/BG₄ ratio (3.1-3.2) compared with normal starch (2.5-2.9) or high amylose barley (2.8-3.1) (Storsley et al., 2003). In our results, waxy barley had higher BG₃/BG₄ ratio (2.8-2.9) than normal barley line (2.3) but lower than some other lines (3.1-3.2).

A strong positive correlation (r = 0.86) between β -glucan content and molar proportion of BG₃ was observed in barley (Figure 18). Barley lines 3, 7, 19 and 20 contain the highest β -glucan content (8.9-10.5%) and stretch out on the top corner of the correlation plot. The two lines (2, 18) lying on the bottom of the plot contain the least amount of β -glucan (2.3%, 2.4%, respectively).



Figure 18. Correlation between β -glucan content and relative proportion of trisaccharide (BG₃) released after lichenase hydrolysis.

4.4 Rheological properties of triticale

Since the primary aim of triticale breeding is animal feeding, viscosity measurement forms an integral part of feed value assessment. Viscoelastic properties of triticale cultivars grown at different locations were measured by a method developed during the study (Paper V).

The rheology of flour slurries or extracts can be studied with a Rapid Visco Analyser (RVA) or rheometer. At first, trials of triticale viscosity measurements were conducted using an RVA-based method. After extensive experimentation to find the optimum amount of water, flour, hydrolytic enzymes and time; 6 g triticale flour was mixed with 25 ml water containing 100 μ l α -amylase. The slurry was made to run at 95 °C at certain constant shear for a specific time and subsequently at lower temperatures to treat with xylanase and lichenase and estimate the contribution of AX and β -glucan towards triticale viscosity. However, constraints such as avoiding interference by endogenous enzymes and sedimentation of the sample at the bottom of canister forced us to abandon this protocol and look towards rheometer-based methods.

For rheometer measurements, the flour was first boiled with 50% ethanol to inactivate the endogenous enzymes. Subsequently, the extractable DF polymers were extracted by boiling with water (90 min) in the presence of thermostable α -amylase. However, the maximum viscosity of the extract achieved was not high enough to be measured with sufficient accuracy using the cup and bob or cone and plate geometries of our instrument. Therefore the extract viscosity needed to be scaled up. This could have been achieved by either vacuum evaporation (Anttila et al., 2004) or by precipitating the polymers and re-dissolving in minimum required volume to measure viscoelastic properties by the cone and plate method. We opted for the latter technique because of feasibility and were able to reach the required concentration. The viscoelastic properties of the triticale cultivars and a reference wheat cultivar were characterised by their elastic modulus (G'), viscous modulus (G"), complex modulus (G*) and phase angle (δ). The relationship between frequency (Hz), δ (°) and modulus (Pa) is presented in Figure 19.



Figure 19. Relationship of frequency with modulus (viscous modulus = \circ , elastic modulus = \bullet) and phase angle (Δ) in extract from triticale cultivar Talentro.

Triticale cultivars grown at Svalöv were significantly higher in G' (average 9.0 Pa) and G" (average 12.7 Pa) at 2.1 Hz than those grown at Kölbäck, with average values of 3.1 Pa and 5.6 Pa, respectively (Paper V). Significant location effects were also evident on G* at 2.1 Hz, as values for cultivars at Svalöv (average 15.6 Pa) were more than double those for cultivars at Kölbäck (average 6.4 Pa). It is worth remembering that G* is a measure of stiffness of polymer solution and, together with δ , defines G' and G". Large variability in G* values (at 2.1 Hz) of triticale cultivars (range 1.6-39.7 Pa) is visible in Figure 20. Triticale cultivar Fidelio had the highest G* at all locations and appeared very viscous during sample preparation. The δ of Fidelio grown at Svalöv was lower than for other cultivars, which follows the fact that materials having $\delta < 45^{\circ}$ are solid-like and those with $\delta > 45^{\circ}$ are liquid-like. However δ was not significantly different in the two growing regions. Because of interaction between location and cultivars, Tukey's pair-wise comparison was unable to confer significance on genetic differences among triticale cultivars which were quite obvious (Paper V). The wheat reference cultivar (cv. Harnesk) tested in this study resembled some of the triticale cultivars, e.g. Dinaro, DED 145/02, Cando, in its G* value (Figure 20) and other viscoelastic properties at 2.1 Hz (Paper V). On the other hand, the rye reference cultivar (cv. Ottarp) used in this project gave too viscous an extract to handle under the test conditions.



Figure 20. Complex modulus (at 2.1 Hz) of extracts from triticale grown at Svalöv (()), Kölbäck () and Haga ()) and wheat reference cultivar grown at Svalöv (()) and Kölbäck ()). The different letters (upper case) on the average values of two regions show significant location effects (p < 0.05).

The relationship of G* (at 2.1 Hz) with content and extractability, molecular weight and structure of AX and β-glucan was studied by running PLS regression. When both AX and β -glucan were included as predictors, the model was capable of explaining 91% of the variation in G* at 2.1 Hz with three PLS factors and a small (0.11 Pa) root mean square error of prediction (RMSEP). Since AX is the major polysaccharide accounting for about 50% of the total DF in triticale while β -glucan is only a minor component (Paper I), G* modelling by AX chemistry was preferred. Not surprisingly, after removal of β-glucan content, extractability, molecular weight and structure, the regression power of the model was similar to that containing β -glucan. Subsequently, the contribution of AX content and extractability, molecular size and fine structure to G* values was assessed by taking one variable group out at a time and evaluating the regression model. With the removal of content and extractability parameters of AX, model prediction power was slightly decreased ($R^2 = 0.87$, RMSEP = 0.13 Pa). Dependence of triticale viscosity on content of waterextractable pentosans is already well known (Pettersson & Åman, 1987). A positive correlation between the content of WE-AX and extract viscosity has also been reported for wheat (Martinant et al., 1999). Molecular size of AX made a similar contribution to the regression model ($R^2 = 0.87$, RMSEP = 0.13 Pa) as the content and extractability of AX. The very low correlation between M_w and G* (r = 0.45) also indicates the small contribution of molecular size to the modelling of extract rheology. These results are not in complete agreement with those reported by Ragaee *et al.* (2001), where a strong association (r =0.84) between extract viscosity and high molecular weight AX fraction was established in rye. However, different experimental conditions might make the comparisons inconclusive. AX structure seems to have greater influence on extract rheology than water-extractable content and molecular size parameters. After removing structure from the regression model, the model regression power dropped significantly ($R^2 = 0.70$, RMSEP = 0.20 Pa).

High dependence of G^* on structural features could also be established from the fact that triticale cultivars grown at Svalöv were low in AX content and extractability but were generally higher in branched AXOS. The A/X ratio of total AX had no correlation with G^* , while a slight negative correlation between A/X ratio of soluble AX and G^* (r = -0.65) was found. The results reinforce the previous findings that AX with low substitution (A/X ratio) results in higher extract viscosities (Ragaee *et al.*, 2001; Martinant *et al.*, 1999). This might be due to cross-linking of unsubstituted xylan chains resulting in gelation. However, it conflicts with the study by Andrewartha *et al.* (1979), where viscosity decreased with the partial removal of arabinose substituents.

It can be concluded that the viscoelastic properties of triticale cultivars tested varied between locations and cultivars. Some of the cultivars tested were very similar to wheat in their viscoelastic properties of extracts, while others had much higher values. The G^* of triticale was mainly governed by the structural features of AX.

5 Conclusions

This work focused on characterisation of DF in grains (mainly triticale) and rye products. Triticale has its major use as an animal feed, while rye is an integral part of bread and breakfast cereals across Sweden. Both genetic and environmental factors contributed to the variation in DF content and composition of triticale. Some of the cultivars, such as SW 383A and Dinaro, were more stable in their DF content at both locations. More pronounced effects of location were observed on molecular weight distribution of extractable DF components, particularly β -glucan, since cultivars grown at Kölbäck (with high rainfall) showed notable degradation. The DF profile of triticale was quite similar to that of wheat, but it had a considerably lower amount of total and extractable DF than rye. The greater similarity of triticale to wheat than to rye may reflect the fact that it carries two genome proportions from its wheat parent (A & B genome) and only one from rye (R genome).

DF content in rye-based products varied widely based on ingredients and processing. Crisp breads containing whole meal rye flour as a principal ingredient were very similar to the grain in their DF composition. In contrast, soft breads having more diverse ingredients and processing had low average DF content. Rye porridge had the highest DF content and contained considerably more DF than the grain, primarily due to formation of RS of type III.

Processing of cereals is aimed to make them palatable with simultaneous retention of nutrient bioactivity. This demands careful selection of processing parameters to retain maximum benefits associated with DF. This study showed that content, extractability and molecular weight distribution of DF components were affected by processing. In general, extractability of AX and β -glucan increased during processing, molecular weight decreased and content remained more or less unchanged. Fructan appeared to be labile to yeast fermentation. Among the three extractable DF components examined here, β -

glucan was much more sensitive to endogenous enzymes-related degradation. Complexity of linkages in AX and fructan might be one reason for their stability against endogenous enzymes. Among the products studied, processing effects on molecular weight distribution of extractable DF components were more pronounced in crisp breads and soft breads than extruded products and rye porridge.

Structural features of AX and β -glucan analysed by enzymatic fingerprinting were quite different in triticale, barley and tritordium. Triticale cultivars grown at two locations differed in AX fragments released after *endo*-xylanase hydrolysis. Cultivars grown at Svalöv were generally high in substituted fragments, whereas those at Kölbäck were significantly higher in fragment X. However, the substitution pattern across the two regions was not related to A/X ratio. Relative proportion of β -glucan fragments released after lichenase hydrolysis varied in different cereals. Molar proportion of trisaccharides and tetrasaccharides was highest in barley, followed by triticale and tritordium. Among the barley genotypes studied, waxy barley had a higher molar ratio of BG₃/BG₄ compared with normal starch barley, but not the highest. The slight negative correlation observed between β -glucan extractability and GOS of DP 5 and DP 6 was logical. β -Glucan content and molar proportion of BG₃ had a strong positive correlation.

Viscoelastic properties of triticale varied with location. Cultivars grown at Svalöv were significantly higher in G', G" and G* than those at Kölbäck. Intercultivar variation was also quite marked, as some of the cultivars were very viscous and others were equally or even less viscous than wheat. Major variation in the viscosity of triticale was explained by structural features of AX and not so much by extractable content or molecular size of AX. β -Glucan, being less significant in triticale, does not contribute towards its extract rheology. The huge diversity in viscoelastic properties of the triticale cultivars grown in Sweden gives more options for farmers and feed manufacturers to design triticale-based feed formulations based on end-use quality.

6 Main findings

- Triticale DF content and composition was affected by growing location and cultivar.
- Triticale grown at a location with high rainfall resulted in higher DF content and lower molecular weight of AX, β-glucan and fructan.
- > Triticale was more similar to wheat than to rye in its DF profile.
- Rye crisp breads were considerably higher in their DF content (average 17.8%) than soft breads (average 12.6%), while porridge contained up to 23% DF.
- Rye products prepared without fermentation retained high molecular weight of extractable DF components.
- > Short-chain fructan was readily degraded in breads baked with yeast.
- > Barley and tritordium generally had more branched AXOS than triticale.
- Triticale grown at a location with high rainfall had a smaller relative proportion of branched AXOS.
- > Relative proportion of BG₃ had a strong positive correlation (r = 0.86) with β -glucan content in barley.
- Rheology of triticale extracts was mainly controlled by structural features of AX rather than extractable content or molecular size.

7 Future prospects

The thesis sought to thoroughly characterise the DF profile of triticale and also to explore the effects of processing on extractable DF components in rye products. The detailed account of triticale DF characterisation was intended to better describe its utility in feed, while the study on rye products was intended to help better define their end-use quality. However, certain unanswered questions demand further work, as listed below.

- Quantification of unsubstituted, mono-substituted and di-substituted xylan proportions in triticale.
- Characterisation of structural features of various cereal products consumed routinely, and their correlation with viscosity.
- > Determination of yeast preference for fructan with different linkages.
- Studying the relationship between AX structural features of triticale cultivars tested with their feed value and exploration of the food perspectives of triticale.
- Further investigation into the relationship of viscosity with degree and pattern of AX substitution, since at one hand viscosity correlated negatively with A/X ratio of WE-AX and at the other hand cultivars with a high level of highly branched AXOS were more viscous.

References

- Ajithkumar, A., Andersson, R. & Åman, P. (2005). Content and molecular weight of extractable β-glucan in American and Swedish oat samples. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 53(4), 1205-1209.
- Alexiou, H. & Franck, A. (2008). Prebiotic inulin-type fructans: Nutritional benefits beyond dietary fibre source. *Nutrition Bulletin* 33(3), 227-233.
- Åman, P. (1987). The variation in chemical composition of Swedish oats. Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica 37(3), 347-352.
- Åman, P. & Graham, H. (1987). Analysis of total and insoluble mixed-linked (1→3),(1→4)-β-Dglucans in barley and oats. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 35(5), 704-709.
- Åman, P., Rimsten, L. & Andersson, R. (2004). Molecular weight distribution of beta-glucan in oat-based foods. *Cereal Chemistry* 81(3), 356-360.
- Åman, P., Westerlund, E. & Theander, O. (1994). Determination of starch using a thermostable αamylase. In: BeMiller, J.N., *et al.* (Eds.) *Methods in Carbohydrate Chemistry*, pp. 111-115. John Wiley & Sons, New York.
- Andersson, A.A.M., Armö, E., Grangeon, E., Fredriksson, H., Andersson, R. & Åman, P. (2004). Molecular weight and structure units of (1→3, 1→4)-β-glucans in dough and bread made from hull-less barley milling fractions. *Journal of Cereal Science* 40(3), 195-204.
- Andersson, A.A.M., Courtin, C.M., Delcour, J.A., Fredriksson, H., Schofield, J.D., Trogh, I., Tsiami, A.A. & Åman, P. (2003). Milling performance of North European hull-less barleys and characterization of resultant millstreams. *Cereal Chemistry* 80(6), 667-673.
- Andersson, A.A.M., Merker, A., Nilsson, P., Sørensen, H. & Åman, P. (1999). Chemical composition of the potential new oilseed crops *Barbarea vulgaris*, *Barbarea verna* and *Lepidium campestre*. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture 79(2), 179-186.
- Andersson, A.A.M., Ruegg, N. & Åman, P. (2008). Molecular weight distribution and content of water-extractable beta-glucan in rye crisp bread. *Journal of Cereal Science* 47(3), 399-406.
- Andersson, R., Fransson, G., Tietjen, M. & Åman, P. (2009). Content and molecular-weight distribution of dietary fiber components in whole-grain rye flour and bread. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 57(5), 2004-2008.

- Andrewartha, K.A., Phillips, D.R. & Stone, B.A. (1979). Solution properties of wheat-flour arabinoxylans and enzymically modified arabinoxylans. *Carbohydrate Research* 77(1), 191-204.
- Anttila, H., Sontag-Strohm, T. & Salovaara, H. (2004). Viscosity of beta-glucan in oat products. Agricultural and Food Science 13(1-2), 80-87.
- AOAC. (2005). *Official Methods of Analysis* (18th edition). Association of Official Analytical Chemists. Arlington, VA, USA.
- Autio, K. (2006). Effects of cell wall components on the functionality of wheat gluten. Biotechnology Advances 24(6), 633-635.
- Bach Knudsen, K.E. & Lærke, H.N. (2010). Rye arabinoxylans: Molecular structure, physicochemical properties and physiological effects in the gastrointestinal tract. *Cereal Chemistry* 87(4), 353-362.
- Barron, C., Surget, A. & Rouau, X. (2007). Relative amounts of tissues in mature wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) grain and their carbohydrate and phenolic acid composition. *Journal of Cereal Science* 45(1), 88-96.
- Beck, E.J., Tosh, S.M., Batterham, M.J., Tapsell, L.C. & Huang, X.-F. (2009). Oat β-glucan increases postprandial cholecystokinin levels, decreases insulin response and extends subjective satiety in overweight subjects. *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research* 53(10), 1343-1351.
- Beer, M.U., Wood, P.J., Weisz, J. & Fillion, N. (1997). Effect of cooking and storage on the amount and molecular weight of (1→3)(1→4)-β-D-glucan extracted from oat products by an in vitro digestion system. *Cereal Chemistry* 74(6), 705-709.
- Bender, D.A. (2006). *Benders' Dictionary of Nutrition and Food Technology* (8th edition). Woodhead Publishing Ltd., Cambridge, UK.
- Bengtsson, S., Andersson, R., Westerlund, E. & Åman, P. (1992). Content, structure and viscosity of soluble arabinoxylans in rye grain from several countries. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 58(3), 331-337.
- Böhm, A., Kaiser, I., Trebstein, A. & Henle, T. (2005). Heat-induced degradation of inulin. European Food Research and Technology 220(5), 466-471.
- Bonnand-Ducasse, M., Della Valle, G., Lefebvre, J. & Saulnier, L. (2010). Effect of wheat dietary fibres on bread dough development and rheological properties. *Journal of Cereal Science* 52(2), 200-206.
- Bonnett, G.D., Sims, I.M., Simpson, R.J. & Cairns, A.J. (1997). Structural diversity of fructan in relation to the taxonomy of the poaceae. *New Phytologist* 136(1), 11-17.
- Bonnin, E., Le Goff, A., Saulnier, L., Chaurand, M. & Thibault, J.F. (1998). Preliminary characterisation of endogenous wheat arabinoxylan-degrading enzymic extracts. *Journal of Cereal Science* 28(1), 53-62.
- Boskov Hansen, H., Andreasen, M.F., Nielsen, M.M., Larsen, L.M., Bach Knudsen, K.E., Meyer, A.S., Christensen, L.P. & Hansen, A. (2002). Changes in dietary fibre, phenolic acids and activity of endogenous enzymes during rye bread-making. *European Food Research and Technology* 214(1), 214 (1) 33-42.
- Boskov Hansen, H., Rasmussen, C.V., Bach Knudsen, K.E. & Hansen, Å. (2003). Effects of genotype and harvest year on content and composition of dietary fibre in rye (*Secale cereale* L.) grain. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 83(1), 76-85.
- Bushuk, W. (2001). Rye production and uses worldwide. Cereal Foods World 46(2), 70-73.

- Buttriss, J.L. & Stokes, C.S. (2008). Dietary fibre and health: An overview. *Nutrition Bulletin* 33(3), 186-200.
- Cauvain, S.P. (2003). Breadmaking: An overview. In: Cauvain, S.P. (Ed.) *Bread Making: Improving Quality.* Woodhead Publishing Ltd., Cambridge, UK.
- Chalmers, J., Lidgett, A., Cummings, N., Cao, Y., Forster, J. & Spangenberg, G. (2005). Molecular genetics of fructan metabolism in perennial ryegrass. *Plant Biotechnology Journal* 3(5), 459-474.
- Choct, M., Annison, G. & Trimble, R.P. (1992). Soluble wheat pentosans exhibit different antinutritive activities in intact and cecectomized broiler chickens. *The Journal of Nutrition* 122(12), 2457-2465.
- Cleemput, G., Booij, C., Hessing, M., Gruppen, H. & Delcour, J.A. (1997). Solubilisation and changes in molecular weight distribution of arabinoxylans and protein in wheat flours during bread-making, and the effects of endogenous arabinoxylan hydrolysing enzymes. *Journal of Cereal Science* 26(1), 55-66.
- Cleemput, G., Roels, S.P., Van Oort, M., Grobet, P.J. & Delcour, J.A. (1993). Heterogeneity in the structure of water-soluble arabinoxylans in European wheat flours of variable bread-making quality. *Cereal Chemistry* 70(3), 324-329.
- Courtin, C.M. & Delcour, J.A. (2002). Arabinoxylans and endoxylanases in wheat flour breadmaking. *Journal of Cereal Science* 35(3), 225-243.
- Cui, S.W. & Wang, Q. (2009). Cell wall polysaccharides in cereals: Chemical structures and functional properties. *Structural Chemistry* 20(2), 291-297.
- Cui, W., Wood, P.J., Blackwell, B. & Nikiforuk, J. (2000). Physicochemical properties and structural characterization by two-dimensional NMR spectroscopy of wheat β-Dglucan–comparison with other cereal β-D-glucans. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 41(3), 249-258.
- Cummings, J.H. & Stephen, A.M. (2007). Carbohydrate terminology and classification. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 61(S1), S5-S18.
- Cyran, M., Courtin, C.M. & Delcour, J.A. (2003). Structural features of arabinoxylans extracted with water at different temperatures from two rye flours of diverse breadmaking quality. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 51(15), 4404-4416.
- Cyran, M., Courtin, C.M. & Delcour, J.A. (2004). Heterogeneity in the fine structure of alkaliextractable arabinoxylans isolated from two rye flours with high and low breadmaking quality and their coexistence with other cell wall components. *Journal of Agricultural* and Food Chemistry 52(9), 2671-2680.
- Cyran, M.R. & Ceglinska, A. (2011). Genetic variation in the extract viscosity of rye (Secale cereale L.) bread made from endosperm and wholemeal flour: Impact of high-molecular-weight arabinoxylan, starch and protein. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture 91(3), 469-479.
- Debyser, W., Peumans, W.J., Van Damme, E.J.M. & Delcour, J.A. (1999). Triticum aestivum xylanase inhibitor (TAXI), a new class of enzyme inhibitor affecting breadmaking performance. Journal of Cereal Science 30(1), 39-43.
- Dewettinck, K., Van Bockstaele, F., Kühne, B., Van de Walle, D., Courtens, T.M. & Gellynck, X. (2008). Nutritional value of bread: Influence of processing, food interaction and consumer perception. *Journal of Cereal Science* 48(2), 243-257.

- Dexter, J.E. & Wood, P.J. (1996). Recent applications of debranning of wheat before milling. *Trends in Food Science & Technology* 7(2), 35-41.
- Dornez, E., Cuyvers, S., Gebruers, K., Delcour, J.A. & Courtin, C.M. (2008). Contribution of wheat endogenous and wheat kernel associated microbial endoxylanases to changes in the arabinoxylan population during breadmaking. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 56(6), 2246-2253.
- Dornez, E., Gebruers, K., Delcour, J.A. & Courtin, C.M. (2009). Grain-associated xylanases: Occurrence, variability, and implications for cereal processing. *Trends in Food Science* & *Technology* 20(11-12), 495-510.
- EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies (NDA). (2010). Scientific opinion on dietary reference values for carbohydrates and dietary fibre. *EFSA Journal* 8(3), 1462-1477.
- EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies (NDA). (2009). Scientific opinion on the substantiation of health claims related to beta-glucans and maintenance of normal blood cholesterol concentrations. *EFSA Journal* 7(9), 1254-1272.
- Englyst, H.N. & Macfarlane, G.T. (1986). Breakdown of resistant and readily digestible starch by human gut bacteria. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 37(7), 699-706.
- Erekul, O. & Köhn, W. (2006). Effect of weather and soil conditions on yield components and bread-making quality of winter wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) and winter triticale (*Triticosecale* Wittm.) varieties in North-East Germany. Journal of Agronomy and Crop Science 192(6), 452-464.
- FAO (2009). Food and Agricultural Commodities Production. Available from: http://faostat.fao.org/site/339/default.aspx
- Fauré, R., Courtin, C.M., Delcour, J.A., Dumon, C., Faulds, C.B., Fincher, G.B., Fort, S., Fry, S.C., Halila, S., Kabel, M.A., Pouvreau, L., Quemener, B., Rivet, A., Saulnier, L., Schols, H.A., Driguez, H. & O'Donohue, M.J. (2009). A brief and informationally rich naming system for oligosaccharide motifs of heteroxylans found in plant cell walls. *Australian Journal of Chemistry* 62(6), 533-537.
- Fincher, G.B. & Stone, B.A. (1986). Cell walls and their components in cereal grain technology. In: Pomeranz, Y. (Ed.) Advances in Cereal Science and Technology, pp. 207-295. American Association of Cereal Chemists, St. Paul, MN, USA.
- Flander, L., Salmenkallio-Marttila, M., Suortti, T. & Autio, K. (2007). Optimization of ingredients and baking process for improved wholemeal oat bread quality. *LWT - Food Science and Technology* 40(5), 860-870.
- Franck, A. (2002). Technological functionality of inulin and oligofructose. British Journal of Nutrition 87(Suppl. 2), 287-291.
- Fretzdorff, B. & Welge, N. (2003). Reduction of endogenous fructans during rye whole-meal breadmaking. *Getreide, Mehl und Brot* 57(3), 57 (3) 147-151.
- Gebruers, K., Dornez, E., Bedõ, Z., Rakszegi, M., Courtin, C.M. & Delcour, J.A. (2010a). Variability in xylanase and xylanase inhibition activities in different cereals in the HEALTHGRAIN diversity screen and contribution of environment and genotype to this variability in common wheat. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 58(17), 9362-9371.
- Gebruers, K., Dornez, E., Bedõ, Z., Rakszegi, M., Frás, A., Boros, D., Courtin, C.M. & Delcour, J.A. (2010b). Environment and genotype effects on the content of dietary fiber and its
components in wheat in the HEALTHGRAIN diversity screen. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 58(17), 9353-9361.

- Gibson, G.R., Probert, H.M., Loo, J.V., Rastall, R.A. & Roberfroid, M.B. (2004). Dietary modulation of the human colonic microbiota: Updating the concept of prebiotics. *Nutrition Research Reviews* 17(02), 259-275.
- Girhammar, U. & Nair, B.M. (1992). Certain physical properties of water soluble non-starch polysaccharides from wheat, rye, triticale, barley and oats. *Food Hydrocolloids* 6(4), 329-343.
- Glatthar, J., Heinisch, J.J. & Senn, T. (2005). Unmalted triticale cultivars as brewing adjuncts: Effects of enzyme activities and composition on beer wort quality. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 85(4), 647-654.
- Goesaert, H., Elliott, G., Kroon, P.A., Gebruers, K., Courtin, C.M., Robben, J., Delcour, J.A. & Juge, N. (2004). Occurrence of proteinaceous endoxylanase inhibitors in cereals. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Proteins & Proteomics* 1696(2), 193-202.
- Gruppen, H., Hamer, R.J. & Voragen, A.G.J. (1992). Water-unextractable cell wall material from wheat flour. 1. Extraction of polymers with alkali. *Journal of Cereal Science* 16(1), 41-51.
- Gruppen, H., Kormelink, F.J.M. & Voragen, A.G.J. (1993). Water-unextractable cell wall material from wheat flour. 3. A structural model for arabinoxylans. *Journal of Cereal Science* 18(2), 111-128.
- Hemery, Y., Rouau, X., Lullien-Pellerin, V., Barron, C. & Abecassis, J. (2007). Dry processes to develop wheat fractions and products with enhanced nutritional quality. *Journal of Cereal Science* 46(3), 327-347.
- Hendry, G.A.F. (1993). Evolutionary origins and natural functions of fructans a climatological, biogeographic and mechanistic appraisal. *New Phytologist* 123(1), 3-14.
- Henry, R.J. (1985). A comparison of the non-starch carbohydrates in cereal grains. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 36(12), 1243-1253.
- Hippocrates. (400 BC). Hippocrates, on Ancient Medicines.
- Hipsley, E.H. (1953). Dietary "fibre" and pregnancy toxaemia. *The British Medical Journal* 2(4833), 420-422.
- Holtekjølen, A.K., Uhlen, A.K., Bråthen, E., Sahlstrøm, S. & Knutsen, S.H. (2006). Contents of starch and non-starch polysaccharides in barley varieties of different origin. *Food Chemistry* 94(3), 348-358.
- Hughes, R. & Rowland, I.R. (2001). Stimulation of apoptosis by two prebiotic chicory fructans in the rat colon. *Carcinogenesis* 22(1), 43-47.
- Huynh, B.-L., Palmer, L., Mather, D.E., Wallwork, H., Graham, R.D., Welch, R.M. & Stangoulis, J.C.R. (2008). Genotypic variation in wheat grain fructan content revealed by a simplified HPLC method. *Journal of Cereal Science* 48(2), 369-378.
- Irakli, M., Biliaderis, C.G., Izydorczyk, M.S. & Papadoyannis, I.N. (2004). Isolation, structural features and rheological properties of water-extractable β-glucans from different Greek barley cultivars. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 84(10), 1170-1178.
- ISTA. (2006). International Rules for Seed Testing. Interantional Seed Testing Association, Switzerland.

- Izydorczyk, M.S. (2010). Variations in content and molecular structure of barley nonstarch polysaccharides associated with genotypic and cellular origin. *Cereal Chemistry* 87(4), 376-384.
- Izydorczyk, M.S. & Dexter, J.E. (2008). Barley β-glucans and arabinoxylans: Molecular structure, physicochemical properties, and uses in food products—a review. *Food Research International* 41(9), 850-868.
- Izydorczyk, M.S., Macri, L.J. & MacGregor, A.W. (1998a). Structure and physicochemical properties of barley non-starch polysaccharides - I. Water-extractable beta-glucans and arabinoxylans. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 35(3-4), 249-258.
- Izydorczyk, M.S., Macri, L.J. & MacGregor, A.W. (1998b). Structure and physicochemical properties of barley non-starch polysaccharides - II. Alkali-extractable beta-glucans and arabinoxylans. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 35(3-4), 259-269.
- Jaskari, J., Henriksson, K., Nieminen, A., Suortti, T., Salovaara, H. & Poutanen, K. (1995). Effect of hydrothermal and enzymatic treatments on the viscous behavior of dry-milled and wet-milled oat brans. *Cereal Chemistry* 72(6), 625-631.
- Józefiak, D., Rutkowski, A., Jensen, B.B. & Engberg, R.M. (2007). Effects of dietary inclusion of triticale, rye and wheat and xylanase supplementation on growth performance of broiler chickens and fermentation in the gastrointestinal tract. *Animal Feed Science and Technology* 132(1-2), 79-93.
- Józefiak, D., Rutkowski, A. & Martin, S.A. (2004). Carbohydrate fermentation in the avian ceca: A review. Animal Feed Science and Technology 113(1-4), 1-15.
- Kanauchi, M. & Bamforth, C.W. (2008). The relevance of different enzymes for the hydrolysis of β-glucans in malting and mashing. *Journal of the Institute of Brewing* 114(3), 224-229.
- Karppinen, S., Myllymäki, O., Forssell, P. & Poutanen, K. (2003). Fructan content of rye and rye products. *Cereal Chemistry* 80(2), 168-171.
- Kawakami, A., Yoshida, M. & Van den Ende, W. (2005). Molecular cloning and functional analysis of a novel 6 & 1-FEH from wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) preferentially degrading small graminans like bifurcose. *Gene* 358, 93-101.
- Kendall, C.W.C., Esfahani, A. & Jenkins, D.J.A. (2010). The link between dietary fibre and human health. *Food Hydrocolloids* 24(1), 42-48.
- Ku, Y., Jansen, O., Oles, C.J., Lazar, E.Z. & Rader, J.I. (2003). Precipitation of inulins and oligoglucoses by ethanol and other solvents. *Food Chemistry* 81(1), 125-132.
- L'Homme, C., Puigserver, A. & Biagini, A. (2003). Effect of food-processing on the degradation of fructooligosaccharides in fruit. *Food Chemistry* 82(4), 533-537.
- Lazaridou, A. & Biliaderis, C.G. (2007). Molecular aspects of cereal β-glucan functionality: Physical properties, technological applications and physiological effects. *Journal of Cereal Science* 46(2), 101-118.
- Liukkonen, K.H., Heiniö, R.L., Salmenkallio-Marttila, M., Autio, K., Katina, K. & Poutanen, K. (2006). Rye. In: HUI, Y.H., et al. (Eds.) Bakery Products, pp. 109-122. Blackwell Publishing Ltd., Ames, Iowa, USA.
- Livingston, D., Hincha, D. & Heyer, A. (2009). Fructan and its relationship to abiotic stress tolerance in plants. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* 66(13), 2007-2023.
- Livingston, D.P., Chatterton, N.J. & Harrison, P.A. (1993). Structure and quantity of fructan oligomers in oat (Avena spp.). New Phytologist 123(4), 725-734.

- Lomax, A.R. & Calder, P.C. (2009). Prebiotics, immune function, infection and inflammation: A review of the evidence. *British Journal of Nutrition* 101(05), 633-658.
- Loosveld, A.-M.A., Grobet, P.J. & Delcour, J.A. (1997). Contents and structural features of water-extractable arabinogalactan in wheat flour fractions. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 45(6), 1998-2002.
- Mälkki, Y. & Virtanen, E. (2001). Gastrointestinal effects of oat bran and oat gum a review. Lebensmittel-Wissenschaft Und-Technologie-Food Science and Technology 34(6), 337-347.
- Markwalder, H.U. & Neukom, H. (1976). Diferulic acid as a possible crosslink in hemicelluloses from wheat germ. *Phytochemistry* 15(5), 836-837.
- Martinant, J.P., Billot, A., Bouguennec, A., Charmet, G., Saulnier, L. & Branlard, G. (1999). Genetic and environmental variations in water-extractable arabinoxylans content and flour extract viscosity. *Journal of Cereal Science* 30(1), 45-48.
- Martinek, P., Vinterová, M., Buresová, I. & Vyhnánek, T. (2008). Agronomic and quality characteristics of triticale (X *Triticosecale* Wittmack) with HMW glutenin subunits 5 + 10. *Journal of Cereal Science* 47(1), 68-78.
- Marx, S.P., Nösberger, J. & Frehner, M. (1997). Seasonal variation of fructan-β-fructosidase (FEH) activity and characterization of a β-(2-1)-linkage specific FEH from tubers of Jerusalem artichoke (*Helianthus tuberosus*). New Phytologist 135(2), 267-277.
- Matusek, A., Merész, P., Le, T. & Örsi, F. (2009). Effect of temperature and pH on the degradation of fructo-oligosaccharides. *European Food Research and Technology* 228(3), 355-365.
- McCleary, B.V. & Codd, R. (1991). Measurement of (1-3)(1-4)-β-D-glucan in barley and oats: A streamlined enzymic procedure. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 55, 303-312.
- McCleary, B.V., DeVries, J.W., Rader, J.I., Cohen, G., Prosky, L., Mugford, D.C., Champ, M. & Okuma, K. (2010). Determination of total dietary fiber (CODEX definition) by enzymatic-gravimetric method and liquid chromatography: Collaborative study. *Journal of AOAC International* 93(1), 221-233.
- McCleary, B.V., Murphy, A. & Mugford, D.C. (1997). Determination of oligofructans and fructan polysaccharides in foodstuffs by an enzymatic/spectrophotometric method: Collaborative study. *Journal of AOAC International* 83, 356-364.
- McGoverin, C.M., Snyders, F., Muller, N., Botes, W., Fox, G. & Manley, M. (2011). A review of triticale uses and the effect of growth environment on grain quality. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 91(7), 1155-1165.
- McNeil, M., Darvill, A.G., Fry, S.C. & Albersheim, P. (1984). Structure and function of the primary cell walls of plants. *Annual Review of Biochemistry* 53(1), 625-663.
- Meyer, D. & Peters, B. (2009). Enhancing the nutritional value of bread with inulin. Agro Food Industry Hi-Tech 20(3), 48-50.
- Munck, L. (1989). Practical experiences in development of fluorescence analyses in an applied food research laboratory. In: Munck, L. (Ed.) *Fluorescence Analysis in Foods*, pp. 1-32. Longman Scientific & Technical, Harlow, Essex, UK.
- O'Sullivan, A. (1997). Cellulose: The structure slowly unravels. Cellulose 4(3), 173-207.

- Ordaz-Ortiz, J.J., Devaux, M.F. & Saulnier, L. (2005). Classification of wheat varieties based on structural features of arabinoxylans as revealed by endoxylanase treatment of flour and grain. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 53(21), 8349-8356.
- Ordaz-Ortiz, J.J. & Saulnier, L. (2005). Structural variability of arabinoxylans from wheat flour. Comparison of water-extractable and xylanase-extractable arabinoxylans. *Journal of Cereal Science* 42(1), 119-125.
- Pettersson, D. & Åman, P. (1987). The variation in chemical-composition of triticales grown in Sweden. *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica* 37(1), 20-26.
- Phillips, G.O. & Cui, S.W. (2011). An introduction: Evolution and finalisation of the regulatory definition of dietary fibre. *Food Hydrocolloids* 25(2), 139-143.
- Picolli da Silva, L. & de Lourdes Santorio Ciocca, M. (2005). Total, insoluble and soluble dietary fiber values measured by enzymatic-gravimetric method in cereal grains. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis* 18(1), 113-120.
- Poutanen, K. (1997). Enzymes: An important tool in the improvement of the quality of cereal foods. *Trends in Food Science & Technology* 8(9), 300-306.
- Poutanen, K. (2008). Effect of processing on the properties of dietary fibre. In: McCleary, B.V., Prosky, L. (Eds.) Advanced Dietary Fibre Technology. Blackwell Science Ltd., Oxford, UK.
- Praznik, W., Cieślik, E. & Filipiak-Florkiewicz, A. (2002). Soluble dietary fibres in Jerusalem artichoke powders: Composition and application in bread. *Food / Nahrung* 46(3), 151-157.
- Quinde-Axtell, Z., Powers, J. & Baik, B.-K. (2006). Retardation of discoloration in barley flour gel and dough. *Cereal Chemistry* 83(4), 385-390.
- Ragaee, S.M., Campbell, G.L., Scoles, G.J., McLeod, J.G. & Tyler, R.T. (2001). Studies on rye (Secale cereale L.) lines exhibiting a range of extract viscosities. 1. Composition, molecular weight distribution of water extracts, and biochemical characteristics of purified water-extractable arabinoxylan. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 49(5), 2437-2445.
- Rasmussen, C.V., Boskov Hansen, H., Hansen, Å. & Melchior Larsen, L. (2001). pH-, temperature- and time-dependent activities of endogenous endo-β-D-xylanase, β-Dxylosidase and α-L-arabinofuranosidase in extracts from ungerminated rye (*Secale cereale* L.) grain. *Journal of Cereal Science* 34(1), 49-60.
- Regand, A., Tosh, S.M., Wolever, T.M.S. & Wood, P.J. (2009). Physicochemical properties of beta-glucan in differently processed oat foods influence glycemic response. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 57(19), 8831-8838.
- Rimsten, L., Stenberg, T., Andersson, R., Andersson, A. & Åman, P. (2003). Determination of beta-glucan molecular weight using SEC with Calcofluor detection in cereal extracts. *Cereal Chemistry* 80(4), 485-490.
- Ritsema, T. & Smeekens, S. (2003). Fructans: Beneficial for plants and humans. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 6(3), 223-230.
- Roberfroid, M.B. (2007). Inulin-type fructans: Functional food ingredients. *The Journal of Nutrition* 137(11), 24938-25028.
- Rose, D.J., Sanghoon, K. & Inglett, G.E. (2010). Influence of jet cooking and pH on extraction and molecular weight of beta-glucan and arabinoxylan from barley (*Hordeum vulgare* Prowashonupana). *Cereal Chemistry* 87(6), 87 (6) 607-611.
- 76

- Rouau, X. (1993). Investigations into the effects of an enzyme preparation for baking on wheat flour dough pentosans. *Journal of Cereal Science* 18(2), 145-157.
- Rouau, X., El-Hayek, M.L. & Moreau, D. (1994). Effect of an enzyme preparation containing pentosanases on the bread-making quality of flours in relation to changes in pentosan properties. *Journal of Cereal Science* 19(3), 259-272.
- Santos, E., Rosell, C.M. & Collar, C. (2008). Gelatinization and retrogradation kinetics of highfiber wheat flour blends: A calorimetric approach. *Cereal Chemistry* 85(4), 455-463.
- Saulnier, L. & Quemener, B. (2009). Enzymatic mapping of arabinoxylan structure. In: Shewry, P.R., Ward, J. (Eds.) *HEALTHGRAIN Methods: Analysis of Bioactive Components in Small Grain Cereals*. AACC International, St. Paul, Minnesota, USA.
- Saulnier, L., Sado, P.-E., Branlard, G., Charmet, G. & Guillon, F. (2007). Wheat arabinoxylans: Exploiting variation in amount and composition to develop enhanced varieties. *Journal* of Cereal Science 46(3), 261-281.
- Shiomi, N. (1989). Properties of fructosyltransferases involved in the synthesis of fructan in liliaceous plants. *Journal of Plant Physiology* 134, 151-155.
- Skendi, A., Biliaderis, C.G., Izydorczyk, M.S., Zervou, M. & Zoumpoulakis, P. (2011). Structural variation and rheological properties of water-extractable arabinoxylans from six Greek wheat cultivars. *Food Chemistry* 126(2), 526-536.
- Slavin, J.L., Jacobs, D. & Marquart, L. (2000). Grain processing and nutrition. Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition 40(4), 309-326.
- Sodkiewicz, W. (1999). Sprouting resistance and falling number values in introgressive triticale/*T. monococcum* lines. *Biologia Plantarum* 42(4), 533-539.
- Stone, B.A. (2006). Cell walls of cereal grains. Cereal Foods World 51(2), 62-65.
- Storsley, J.M., Izydorczyk, M.S., You, S., Biliaderis, C.G. & Rossnagel, B. (2003). Structure and physicochemical properties of β-glucans and arabinoxylans isolated from hull-less barley. *Food Hydrocolloids* 17(6), 831-844.
- Sullivan, D.M. & Carpenter, D.E. (1993). Methods of Analysis for Nutrition Labeling. Association of Official Analytical Chemists. Arlington, VA, USA.
- Surget, A. & Barron, C. (2005). Histologie du grain de blé. Industrie des Céréales 145, 3-7.
- Theander, O., Åman, P., Westerlund, E., Andersson, R. & Pettersson, D. (1995). Total dietary fiber determined as neutral sugar residues, uronic acid residues, and Klason lignin (the Uppsala method): Collaborative study. *Journal of AOAC International* 78(4), 1030-1044.
- Tiwari, U. & Cummins, E. (2009). Factors influencing beta-glucan levels and molecular weight in cereal-based products. *Cereal Chemistry* 86(3), 290-301.
- Tosh, S.M., Brummer, Y., Miller, S.S., Regand, A., Defelice, C., Duss, R., Wolever, T.M.S. & Wood, P.J. (2010). Processing affects the physicochemical properties of β-glucan in oat bran cereal. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 58(13), 7723-7730.
- Tosh, S.M., Brummer, Y., Wolever, T.M.S. & Wood, P.J. (2008). Glycemic response to oat bran muffins treated to vary molecular weight of β-glucan. *Cereal Chemistry* 85(2), 211-217.
- Tosh, S.M., Brummer, Y., Wood, P.J., Wang, Q. & Weisz, J. (2004). Evaluation of structure in the formation of gels by structurally diverse (1→3)(1→4)-β-D-glucans from four cereal and one lichen species. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 57(3), 249-259.
- Trowell, H. (1972). Crude fibre, dietary fibre and atherosclerosis. Atherosclerosis 16(1), 138-140.

- USDA. (2010). National Nutrient Database for Standard Reference. United States Department of Agriculture. Available from: http://www.nal.usda.gov/fnic/foodcomp/search/
- Valluru, R. & Van den Ende, W. (2008). Plant fructans in stress environments: Emerging concepts and future prospects. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 59(11), 2905-2916.
- Van den Ende, W., Clerens, S., Vergauwen, R., Van Riet, L., Van Laere, A., Yoshida, M. & Kawakami, A. (2003). Fructan 1-exohydrolases: β-(2,1)-trimmers during graminan biosynthesis in stems of wheat? Purification, characterization, mass mapping, and cloning of two fructan 1-exohydrolase isoforms. *Plant Physiology* 131(2), 621-631.
- Vanholme, R., Demedts, B., Morreel, K., Ralph, J. & Boerjan, W. (2010). Lignin biosynthesis and structure. *Plant Physiology* 153(3), 895-905.
- Varughese, G., Pfeiffer, W.H. & Pena, R.J. (1996). Triticale: A successful alternative crop. I. Cereal Foods World 41(6), 474-482.
- Varughese, G., Pfeiffer, W.H. & Peña, R.J. (1997). Triticale: A reappraisal. Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research (CGIAR). Available from: http://www.worldbank.org/html/cgiar/newsletter/april97/8tritic.html
- Vasanthan, T., Gaosong, J., Yeung, J. & Li, J. (2002). Dietary fiber profile of barley flour as affected by extrusion cooking. *Food Chemistry* 77(1), 35-40.
- Verwimp, T., Van Craeyveld, V., Courtin, C.M. & Delcour, J.A. (2007). Variability in the structure of rye flour alkali-extractable arabinoxylans. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 55(5), 1985-1992.
- Viëtor, R.J., Angelino, S.A.G.F. & Voragen, A.G.J. (1992). Structural features of arabinoxylans from barley and malt cell wall material. *Journal of Cereal Science* 15(3), 213-222.
- Vijn, I. & Smeekens, S. (1999). Fructan: More than a reserve carbohydrate? *Plant Physiology* 120(2), 351-360.
- Vinkx, C.J.A. & Delcour, J.A. (1996). Rye (Secale cereale L.) arabinoxylans: A critical review. Journal of Cereal Science 24(1), 1-14.
- Wei, J.-Z., Jerry Chatterton, N., Harrison, P.A., Wang, R.R.C. & Larson, S.R. (2002). Characterization of fructan biosynthesis in big bluegrass (*Poa secunda*). Journal of Plant Physiology 159(7), 705-715.
- Whelan, K., Abrahmsohn, O., David, G.J.P., Staudacher, H., Irving, P., Lomer, M.C.E. & Ellis, P.R. (2011). Fructan content of commonly consumed wheat, rye and gluten-free breads. *International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition* 62(5), 498-503.
- Wood, P.J. (2001). Cereal β-glucans: Structure, properties and health claims. In: McCleary, B.V., Prosky, L. (Eds.) Advanced Dietary Fibre Technology. Blackwell Science Ltd., Oxford, UK
- Wood, P.J. (2010). Oat and rye β-glucan: Properties and function. Cereal Chemistry 87(4), 315-330.
- Zhang, D.C., Doehlert, D.C. & Moore, W.R. (1997). Factors affecting viscosity of slurries of oat groat flours. *Cereal Chemistry* 74(6), 722-726.
- Zheng, X., Li, L. & Wang, Q. (2011). Distribution and molecular characterization of β-glucans from hull-less barley bran, shorts and flour. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 12(3), 1563-1574.
- 78

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to the Higher Education Commission (HEC) Pakistan for my scholarship grant and to the Swedish Institute (SI) for coordinating and ensuring the uninterrupted flow of funding. The Barley Fun Food project at NL-Faculty and the VL-Foundation are acknowledged for research funding.

This accomplishment is owed to many visible and invisible people whose enthusiastic encouragement and untiring support deserve due recognition. It would be unfair if I don't mention those names during this milestone of my life. Please accept my apologies if my memory fails to recall any name.

Roger, my belief in my luck to find the best mentors was confirmed with your supervision and guidance. Your keen interest and encouraging behaviour, scholastic and sympathetic attitude, meticulous and stimulating discussions, invaluable suggestions and corrections, masterly advice and indefatigable assistance at all times during the entire study programme were unmatchable. My salutations to you.

Per, until I had my first few interactions with you, I never imagined that you could be so supportive and friendly. You are the one who made me realise my potential and strengthened my self-belief. I am hopeful that your insight into dietary fibre will push me forward in this field - you are an iconic figure for me.

Luc, I find myself privileged to visit your lab at INRA, Nantes, and have an interaction with you. Your cooperation and help will never vanish from my memory. Thank you very much.

Gunnel and Janicka: I am extremely thankful to you for your helping hands in the lab and making sure everything was up and running. Maggan and Carina: thank you very much for taking care of all documentation and making the flow of my academic life at this institute smooth. Ann-Christine, thank you very much for being always kind and friendly. Rikard, you are the role model for the young researchers and have set high standards for your followers. Hanna, I

am obliged to you for letting me into one of your projects. Catalina, Ali, Caroline and Anna: you deserve commendations for providing a good time in the office and nice discussions. Annica and Kristine, thank you very much for being always there to help. PhD fellows and all other members of LMV family, please accept my sincere thanks.

Dr Anjum, your belief in me helped me to realise this dream and you proved to be a real source of inspiration in my academic career. No words can express the respect and veneration I have for you. Dr Shahbaz, I am very fortunate to work with you. Your kindness to me has no equal.

My seniors during undergraduate studies; Shahzad, Issa, Tariq, Umair and Waqas: you all deserve due appreciation for your support in ups and downs.

Special thanks to my friends in Uppsala, without whom the time might have been a bit rough and tough. Usman, Asif, Rizwan, Ghafoor, Naeem, Mukhtiar, Obaid and all others: thanks for all the good memories and cooperation during this time. The heated discussions after late night cricket and during weekends at Mazhar's 'enclave' can never go to oblivion.

Yousaf, Saif, Zaigham, Hassan, Lala Amir, Ejaz and Raja: I am simply proud of your friendship.

Aman, Saeed, Mitho, Munna, Waqas and Ali: your memories stayed with me during this time and I appreciate your prayers and help.

My colleagues during my short stint at Depalpur; Irfan, Wasi, Marghoob and Nasim: I cherish the laughter we used to share.

My brothers: Qasir and Ashar and my sisters; you people deserve appreciation for your prayers and for never letting me feel that I am miles away from you.

My mother, I could feel your prayers and sacrifices that you gave for me. Mom this is too little a word of thanks for you. I owe all my achievements in life to you since you are the one who pushed me towards higher studies when I thought otherwise. My father, who always fulfilled all my wish lists and prayed tirelessly for me. Dad, none can match your kindness. My late grandfather, who took me on his shoulders to school very first time and then I never looked back. My late grandmother, whose love and affection I could never forget. I am highly grateful to my uncle Waris for his words of advice and uncle Sattar for his help during my studies.